
Page 1 of 5 

 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 30, 2022 
11:30 AM 

TELE-CONFERENCE BOARD MEETING 
VIA ZOOM WEBINAR 

 

OBSERVE  
 

▪ To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on this link:   
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983 at the noticed meeting time.  
 

▪ To listen to the meeting by phone, please call the numbers below at the noticed meeting time: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):  
 

▪ iPhone one-tap: US: +16699006833, 82880493983# or +13462487799, 82880493983# 
 

▪ US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 
626 6799 or +1 929 205 6099  
 

▪ International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax 
 

▪ Webinar ID: 828 8049 3983. 
If asked for a participant ID or code, press #. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

There are three ways to submit public comments.  

▪ eComment.  To send your comment directly to staff BEFORE the meeting starts, please email 
to mvisaya@oaklandca.gov with “PFRS Board Meeting” in the subject line for the 
corresponding meeting.  Please note that eComment submission closes two (2) hours 
before posted meeting time.  
 

Retirement Unit 
150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza 
Oakland, California 94612 

 

Pursuant to California 

Government Code section 

54953(e),  the Oakland Police & 

Fire Retirement System Board  

and Committee Members, as well 

as City staff, will participate via 

phone/video conference, and no 

physical teleconference locations 

are required. 

 

Please see the agenda to 
participate in the meeting.  For 
additional information, contact 
the Retirement Unit by calling 
(510) 238-7295. 
 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEMBERS 

Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 
President 

Jaime T. Godfrey 
Vice President 

Robert W. Nichelini 
Member 

Kevin R. Traylor 
Member 

John C. Speakman 
Member 

R. Steven Wilkinson 
Member 

Erin Roseman 
Member 

REGULAR MEETING of the BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
of the OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM (“PFRS”) 

AGENDA 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82880493983
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kctrX35uax


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MARCH 30, 2022 
 

Page 2 of 5 

▪ To comment by Zoom video conference, click the “Raise Your Hand” button to request to 
speak when Public Comment is being taken on an eligible agenda item at the beginning of 
the meeting. You will be permitted to speak during your turn, allowed to comment, and after 
the allotted time, re-muted.  Instructions on how to “Raise Your Hand” is available at: 
https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/205566129 - Raise-Hand-In-Webinar. 
 
  

▪ To comment by phone, please call on one of the above listed phone numbers.  You will be 
prompted to “Raise Your Hand” by pressing “*9” to speak when Public Comment is taken.  
You will be permitted to speak during your turn, allowed to comment, and after the allotted 
time, re-muted.  Please unmute yourself by pressing “*6.” 

 

If you have any questions, please email Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II at 
mvisaya@oaklandca.gov. 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS  

   
   
A. Subject: Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) Board of 

Administration Meeting Minutes 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE the February 23, 2022 PFRS Board of Administration 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 
B. AUDIT & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 30, 2022 
  
  
B1. Subject: Administrative Expenses Report 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding  PFRS administrative expenses 
as of January 31, 2022 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

mailto:mvisaya@oaklandca.gov


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MARCH 30, 2022 
 

Page 3 of 5 

B2. Subject: Resolution No. 8043 –  Resolution Ratifying the Board President’s 
approval Of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System Board Plan 
Administrator David F. Jones request to attend the  2022 CALAPRS 
General Assembly in San Diego, CA 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 Recommendation: APPROVE  Resolution No. 8043 – Resolution Ratifying the Board 
President’s approval Of Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Board Plan Administrator David F. Jones request to attend the  2022 
CALAPRS General Assembly in San Diego, CA from March 5, 2022 
through March 8, 2022 and authorizing reimbursement of the costs for 
attendance in an amount not to exceed Two Thousand Dollars 
($2,000.00) 

   
   
C. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA – MARCH 30, 2022 
  
  
C1. Subject: Investment Manager Performance Update –   Rice Hall James & 

Associates, LLC 
 From: Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding managerial assessment, 

diversity and inclusion policy and practices, and investment performance 
of Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, a PFRS Domestic Equity Small-
Cap Growth Investment Manager 

   
   
C2. Subject: Investment Manager Performance Review –   Rice Hall James & 

Associates, LLC 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT Meketa Investment Group’s review and evaluation of Rice Hall 

James & Associates, LLC, a PFRS Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth 
Investment Manager regarding managerial assessment, diversity and 
inclusion policy and practices, investment performance, and watch 
status update 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MARCH 30, 2022 
 

Page 4 of 5 

C3. Subject: Resolution 8044 – Resolution modifying the professional services 
agreement with Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC in order to (1) 
provide for unlimited one-year extension options under Section 
IV(B) and (2) authorize a one-year extension of the professional 
services agreement for the provision of Domestic Equity Small-Cap 
Growth Investment Manager Services for the City of Oakland Police 
and Fire Retirement System 

 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 

 

Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution 8044 – Resolution modifying the professional 
services agreement with Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC in order to 
(1) provide for unlimited one-year extension options under Section IV(B) 
and (2) authorize a one-year extension of the professional services 
agreement for the provision of Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth 
Investment Manager Services for the City of Oakland Police and Fire 
Retirement System 

   
   
C4. Subject: Investment Market Overview as of  February 28, 2022 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 
Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Global Investment Markets 

as of  February 28, 2022 
   
   
C5. Subject: Market Update: Russian Invasion of Ukraine 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 

 

Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report  regarding Russia’s invasion of Ukraine 
and the impact across global financial markets and APPROVE the 
Committee’s recommended course of action with regard to the portfolio 
as a result of these recent events 

   
   
C6. Subject: Preliminary Investment Fund Performance Update as of           

February 28, 2022 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT informational report regarding the Preliminary Investment Fund 

Performance Update as of February 28, 2022 
   
   
C7. Subject: 2022 10-year Capital Market Assumptions Review 
 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: APPROVE the 2022 10-year Capital Market Assumptions Review 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MARCH 30, 2022 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 

C8. Subject: $13.9 Million Drawdown for Member Retirement Allowances Fiscal 
Year 2021/2022 (Quarter Ending June 30, 2022) 

 From: Meketa Investment Group 
 Recommendation: ACCEPT an informational report and APPROVE  the Meketa Investment 

Group recommendation of a $13.9 million drawdown, which includes a 
$10.9 Million contribution from the City of Oakland and a $3.0 Million 
contribution from the PFRS Investment Fund, to be used to pay for the 
April 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022 Member Retirement Allowances 

   
   
D. Subject: Member Resolution 8045 
 From: Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE Member Resolution No. 8045 
    Resolution 

No. 8045 
Resolution approving death benefit payments and directing warrants 
thereunder in the total sum of $1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of the 
following deceased members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement 
System: 
 

▪  Richard A. Schuller 
 

   
   
E. Subject: Resolution No. 8046 – Resolution Electing to Continue to Conduct 

Police and Fire Retirement System Board and Committee Meetings 
Using Teleconferencing in Accordance with California Government 
Code Section 54953(E). 

 From: 
 

Staff of the PFRS Board 
 Recommendation: APPROVE Resolution No. 8046 – Resolution Electing to Continue to 

Conduct Police and Fire Retirement System Board and Committee 
Meetings Using Teleconferencing in Accordance with California 
Government Code Section 54953(E). 

   
   

F. PENDING ITEMS 

G. NEW BUSINESS 

H. OPEN FORUM 

I. FUTURE SCHEDULING 

J. ADJOURNMENT 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 1 of 6 
 

A REGULAR BOARD MEETING of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS”) was 

held on Wednesday, February 23, 2022 via Zoom Webinar. 
 

Board Members: ▪ Walter L. Johnson President  

 ▪ Jaime T. Godfrey Vice President (Excused) 

 ▪ Robert W. Nichelini  Member 
 ▪ Erin Roseman Member (Excused) 

 ▪ John C. Speakman Member  

 ▪ Kevin R. Traylor  Member 

 ▪ R. Steven Wilkinson Member 

Additional Attendees: ▪ David F. Jones PFRS Secretary & Plan Administrator 

 ▪ Jennifer Logue PFRS Legal Counsel 

 ▪ Mitesh Bhakta PFRS Legal Counsel 

 ▪ Téir Jenkins PFRS Staff Member 

 ▪ Maxine Visaya PFRS Staff Member 

 ▪ David Sancewich Meketa Investment Group 

 ▪ Jason Leong Campbell Meketa Investment Group 

The meeting was called to order at 11:33 a.m. PST 

A. PFRS Board Meeting Minutes – Member Traylor made a motion to approve the                   
January 26, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes, second by Member Speakman.  Motion 
passed. 
 

[JOHNSON:  ABSTAIN / GODFREY: EXCUSED / NICHELINI: Y / ROSEMAN: EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN: Y / TRAYLOR: Y / WILKINSON: Y] 

(AYES: 4 / NOES: 0 / ABSTAIN: 1 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 
 

 

B. AUDIT AND OPERATIONS COMMITTEE AGENDA – FEBRUARY 23, 2022 
 

B1. Administrative Expenses Report – Staff Member Jenkins presented an informational report on 

PFRS’s administrative expenditures as of December 31, 2021.  PFRS has an approved annual 

budget of approximately $3.5 million and have expensed approximately $1 million fiscal year-to-

date.  Membership consisted of 707 retired members, which included 434 Police Members and 

273 Fire Members.  Staff Member Jenkins also presented graphical information representing the 

budget vs. actual expenses as of December 31, 2021 as included in the quarterly report provided 

to City Council. 
 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to accept the administrative expenses report as 

of December 31, 2021, second by Member Nichelini.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

 

 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 2 of 6 
 

B2. PFRS Annual Report for Year Ended June 30, 2021 – Staff Member Jenkins presented the 

PFRS Annual Report for Year Ended June 30, 2021. Staff Member Jenkins and Plan 

Administrator Jones acknowledged all the hard work that goes into producing the annual report 

and thanked Retirement Staff for pulling everything together, as well as the retirees for all they 

bring to the report.  Plan Administrator Jones also encouraged member feedback to provide for 

enhancements and suggestions for additional content they would like to see incorporated into 

future reports. 

 

MOTION: Member Nichelini made a motion to approve printing and publication of the PFRS 

Annual Report for Year Ended June 30, 2021, second by Member Speakman.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

C. INVESTMENT & FINANCIAL MATTERS COMMITTEE AGENDA – FEBRUARY 23, 2022  
 

C1. Investment Manager Performance Update – Earnest Partners – Member Wilkinson provided 

a brief summary of the presentation by Earnest Partners (“Earnest”), a PFRS Domestic Equity 

Mid-Cap Core Asset Class Investment Manager.  Member Wilkinson highlighted the firm has not 

undergone any major organizational changes; strong asset growth since inception; the equity 

portfolio characteristics; investment strategy; and commended their success in sustaining a 

remarkably diverse & inclusive environment.  Plan Administrator Jones added Earnest is one of 

PFRS’ longest Investment Manager relationships and they provided a great presentation and 

consistently create alpha and appreciated all they do for the Board. 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to accept the informational report regarding the 

Investment Manager Performance Update regarding Earnest, a PFRS Domestic Equity Mid-Cap 

Core Asset Class Investment Manager, second by Member Wilkinson.  Motion Passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

C2. Investment Manager Performance Review – Earnest Partners – David Sancewich of Meketa 

provided an informational overview of Earnest, a PFRS Domestic Equity Mid-Cap Core Asset 

Class Investment Manager.  D. Sancewich highlighted Meketa has no concerns at all, as Earnest 

is strong organizationally and has a strong investment team and noted performance has been 

above the benchmark and recommended PFRS extend the current professional services 

agreement with Earnest. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept Meketa’s evaluation of Earnest, a PFRS 

Domestic Equity Mid-Cap Core Asset Class Investment Manager, second by Member Wilkinson. 

Motion Passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 3 of 6 
 

C3. Resolution 8038 – Resolution authorizing a one-year extension of professional services 

agreement with Earnest Partners for the provision of Domestic Equity Mid-Cap Core Asset Class 

Investment Manager Services. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Resolution 8038 authorizing a one-year 

extension of professional services agreement with Earnest Partners for the provision of Domestic 

Equity Mid-Cap Core Asset Class Investment Manager Services, second by Member Traylor. 

Motion Passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

C4. Investment Market Overview as of January 31, 2022 – David Sancewich of Meketa presented 

an informational report regarding the Investment Market Overview as of January 31, 2022 and 

highlighted domestic equity returns and current factors impacting outcomes, such as the 

Russia/Ukraine Crisis, market volatility, and concerns about rising interest rates. 

 

MOTION:  Member Traylor made a motion to accept the informational report provided by Meketa 

Investment Group regarding the Investment Market Overview as of January 31, 2022, second by 

Member Wilkinson.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

 

C5. Preliminary Investment Fund Performance Update as of January 31, 2022 – David 

Sancewich of Meketa Investment Group provided a summary of the Preliminary Investment Fund 

Performance Update as of January 31, 2022 and highlighted the Asset Class Performance 

Summary. 

 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept the informational report provided by 

Meketa Investment Group regarding the Preliminary Investment Fund Performance Update as of 

January 31, 2022, second by Member Speakman.  Motion Passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 4 of 6 
 

C6. Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of December 31, 2021 – David 

Sancewich of Meketa presented an informational report regarding the Investment Fund Quarterly 

Performance Update as of  December 31, 2021 and noted this report will be provided to City 

Council.  D. Sancewich highlighted strong total portfolio performance and the total plan in terms 

of summary of cash flows and annualized return vs. annualized standard deviation. 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept informational report regarding the 

Investment Fund Quarterly Performance Update as of  December 31, 2021 presented by Meketa, 

second by Member Speakman.  Motion Passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

C7. Annual Diversity Report of Current PFRS Investment Managers – David Sancewich provided 

an informational report regarding the Annual Diversity Report of Current PFRS Investment 

Managers which included each firm’s representational statistics relative to the board of 

directors/managing members, the entire staff, and investment professionals. D. Sancewich noted 

the firms with low-diversity statistics remain low, however Meketa encourages these firms to 

discuss with the Board actions they are taking to improve those statistics. 
 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to accept the  informational report regarding the 

Annual Diversity Report of Current PFRS Investment Managers Meketa, second by Member 

Wilkinson.  The motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

D. Member Resolutions 8039 – 8040 

D1. Resolution No. 8039 – Resolution fixing the monthly allowance of surviving spouse of the 

following retired member of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System in the amount 

indicated: 
 Deceased Member Surviving Spouse Monthly Allowance 

▪ Jeffrey Davis Heidi J. Davis $ 5,358.76 

▪ David L. Whiteman Lee A. Whiteman $ 4,758.75 

 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Resolution No. 8039, second by Member 

Traylor.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

 

 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 5 of 6 
 

D2. Resolution No. 8040 – Resolution approving death benefit payments and directing warrants 

thereunder in the total sum of $1,000.00 payable to the beneficiary of the following deceased 

members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System: 

▪  Robert L. Thorp 

 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Resolution No. 8040, second by Member 

Traylor.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

E. Resolution No. 8041 –  Resolution determining that conducting in-person meetings of the Police 

and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Board and its Committees would present imminent risk to 

health or safety of attendees and electing to continue to conduct PFRS Board and Committee 

meetings using teleconferencing in accordance with California Government Code Section 

54953(E) as amended by California Assembly Bill No. 361 (September 16, 2021). 
 

MOTION:  Member Nichelini made a motion to approve Resolution No. 8041, second by Member 

Wilkinson.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

F. Resolution 8042 – Resolution of Appreciation to Jennifer Logue for three years of service as 

Legal Counsel to the Oakland Police & Fire Retirement System Board. Board Members and 

PFRS Staff expressed their gratitude, congratulations, and well wishes to Legal Counsel Logue 

for her continued professionalism, dedication to this Board and the City of Oakland, providing 

legal guidance and always keeping the Board informed. Legal Counsel Logue expressed her 

appreciation for all the kind words shared and noted it has been a pleasure to work with this 

Board and the experience has broadened her horizons as well.  Additionally, Legal Counsel 

Logue introduced Legal Counsel Mitesh Bhakta who will assume her responsibilities to the Board.  

Staff Member Jenkins noted PFRS has plaque to present to her as a token of appreciation. 

 

MOTION:  Member Speakman made a motion to approve Resolution No. 8042, second by 

Member Traylor.  Motion passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 

G. Pending Items – No Report 
 

H. New Business – No Report 
 

 

 

 



PFRS Board of Administration Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 23, 2022 

Page 6 of 6 
 

I. Open Forum – President Johnson took a personal moment and expressed gratitude to Staff, 

Board Members, and Investment Counsel for their expression of condolences for the loss of his 

son and for the words of comfort during a difficult time. 
 

J. Future Scheduling – The next regular Board meeting is tentatively scheduled to occur          

March 30, 2022 

 

K. Adjournment – Member Traylor made a motion to adjourn, second by Member Nichelini.  Motion 

passed. 
 

[JOHNSON – Y / GODFREY – EXCUSED / NICHELINI – Y / ROSEMAN – EXCUSED / SPEAKMAN – Y / TRAYLOR – Y / WILKINSON – Y] 

(AYES: 5 / NOES: 0 / EXCUSED: 2) 

 
 

The meeting adjourned at 12:09 p.m. PST 

 

 
              

                                DAVID F. JONES                  DATE 
 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR & SECRETARY 



Table 1

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Administrative Budget Spent to Date (Preliminary)

As of January 31, 2022

Approved

Budget January 2022 FYTD Remaining Percent Remaining

Internal Administrative Costs
PFRS Staff Salaries 1,212,000$          83,553$                          616,744$                        595,256$                        49.1%

Board Travel Expenditures 52,500                 1,711                              1,711                              50,789                            96.7%

Staff Training 20,000                 -                                  -                                  20,000                            100.0%

Staff Training  - Tuition Reimbursement 7,500                   -                                  -                                  7,500                              100.0%

Board Hospitality 3,600                   -                                  -                                  3,600                              100.0%

Payroll Processing Fees 40,000                 -                                  -                                  40,000                            100.0%

Miscellaneous Expenditures 40,000                 2,324                              6,898                              33,102                            82.8%

Internal Service Fees (ISF) 88,000                 -                                  49,501                            38,499                            43.7%

Contract Services Contingency 50,000                 -                                  -                                  50,000                            100.0%

Internal Administrative Costs Subtotal : 1,513,600$          87,587$                          674,855$                        838,745$                        55.4%

Actuary and Accounting Services
Audit 49,000$               5,796$                            48,300$                          700$                               1.4%

Actuary 46,500                 -                                  -                                  46,500                            100.0%

Actuary and Accounting Subtotal: 95,500$               5,796$                            48,300$                          47,200$                          49.4%

Legal Services
City Attorney Salaries 188,000$             19,688$                          78,692$                          109,308$                        58.1%

Legal Contingency 150,000               -                                  -                                  150,000                          100.0%

Legal Services Subtotal: 338,000$             19,688$                          78,692$                          259,308$                        76.7%

Investment Services
Money Manager Fees 1,353,000$          290,509$                        621,422$                        731,578$                        54.1%

Custodial Fee 124,000               -                                  29,125                            94,875                            76.5%

Investment Consultant 100,000               -                                  50,000                            50,000                            50.0%

Investment Subtotal: 1,577,000$          290,509$                        700,547$                        876,453$                        55.6%

Total Operating Budget 3,524,100$   403,581$               1,502,394$            2,021,706$            57.37%

 



Table 2

OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Cash in Treasury (Fund 7100) - Preliminary

As of January 31, 2022

 

January 2022

Beginning Cash as of 12/31/2021 6,666,538$                              

Additions:

City Pension Contribution - January 3,651,667$                              

Investment Draw 1,000,000$                              

Misc. Receipts -                                           

Total Additions: 4,651,667$                              

Deductions:

Pension Payment (December Pension Paid on 1/1/2022) (4,299,404)                               

Expenditures Paid (457,999)                                  

Total Deductions (4,757,403)$                             

Ending Cash Balance as of 1/31/2022* 6,560,802$                              

 

* On 2/1/2022, January pension payment of appx $4,291,500 will be made leaving a cash balance of $2,269,000.



Table 3

CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Census

As of January 31, 2022

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Retiree 306 173 479

Beneficiary 127 96 223

Total Retired Members 433 269 702

Total Membership: 433 269 702

COMPOSITION POLICE FIRE TOTAL

Retired Member:

Service Retirement 290 135 425

Disability Retirement 132 122 254

Death Allowance 11 12 23

Total Retired Members: 433 269 702

Total Membership as of January 31, 2022: 433 269 702

Total Membership as of June 30, 2021: 439 284 723

Annual Difference: -6 -15 -21



2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 FYTD

Police 617 598 581 558 545 516 492 475 460 439 433

Fire 465 445 425 403 384 370 345 323 308 284 269

Total 1082 1043 1006 961 929 886 837 798 768 723 702

617

598

581

558
545

516

492

475

460

439
433

465

445

425

403

384
370

345

323

308

284

269

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System
Pension Plan Membership Count

As of January 31, 2022 (FY 2012 - FY 2022)



Attachments: Agenda Item     3 
(1) Resolution 8043                                                           PFRS Audit Committee Meeting 
(2) Conference Agenda                                                                               March 30, 2022 

A G E N D A  R E P O R T

TO: Oakland Police and Fire  
Retirement System Board (PFRS) 

FROM:  Téir Jenkins 
Investment & Operations Manager 

SUBJECT:  Authorization and Reimbursement 
of Plan Administrator Jones’ 
Travel/Education Expenses 

DATE:  March 30, 2022 

David F. Jones, Plan Administrator of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 
Board, requests authorization for reimbursement of travel and/or board education 
related funds for the event detailed below.  Staff has verified that budgeted funds are 
available for this Board Member to be reimbursed. 

Staff recommends the reimbursement of travel/education funds for the event below be 
approved by board motion. 

Travel/Education Event: CALAPRS 2022 General Assembly 

Event Location: Mission Bay Resort, San Diego, CA 

Event Date: March 5, 2022 – March 8, 2022 

Estimated Event Expense: $2,000.00 

Notes: Prior Approval received from President Walter L. Johnson Sr. 

* If enrollment, registration or admission expenses are required, the fund will process a check 
in advance and pay vendor directly; all other board-approved reimbursements will be made 
upon delivery of receipts to staff by the travelling party.  Cancellation of event attendance 
requires return of all reimbursed funds paid to attendee to the fund.

Respectfully submitted, 

Téir Jenkins 
Investment & Operations Manager 
Oakland Police & Fire Retirement Systems 

For questions please contact Maxine Visaya, Administrative Assistant II, at 510.238.7295 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8043 
 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE BOARD PRESIDENT’S APPROVAL OF 
OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM PLAN 
ADMINISTRATOR JONES’ REQUEST TO ATTEND 2022 CALIFORNIA 
ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC RETIREMENT SYSTEMS GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
(CALAPRS 2022 GENERAL ASSEMBLY) FROM MARCH 5, 2022 THROUGH 
MARCH 8, 2022 IN SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA AND AUTHORIZING 
REIMBURSMENT OF REGISTRATION FEES AND TRAVEL-RELATED  
EXPENSES IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2,000.00) 

WHEREAS, the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) Education and Travel 

Policy (“Travel Policy”) requires that PFRS Board members and staff obtain prior Board 

approval of all education and travel-related expenses that will be reimburse by PFRS; 

and; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, the PFRS Board President, in 

consultation with the Plan Administrator, may authorize education and travel expenses 

without prior approval of the Board when prior approval cannot be obtained; and 

WHEREAS, PFRS Plan Administrator Jones attended the 2022 California Association of 

Public Retirement Systems General Assembly (“the Conference”) in San Diego, CA from 

March 5, 2022 through March 8, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section IV(21)(a) of the Travel Policy Plan Administrator Jones 

will submit documentation showing costs in an amount not to exceed Two Thousand 

Dollars ($2,000.00) incurred as reimbursable expenses to attend the Conference within 

15 days of the date of his return from the conference; and 

WHEREAS, Plan Administrator Jones was unable to obtain Board approval prior to 

attending the Conference because he was unable to submit his request prior to the 

agenda posting deadline in time to bring his request to the full board before the 

Conference; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section IV(2)(c) of the Travel Policy, Plan Administrator 

Jones obtained written authorization from PFRS Board President Walter L. Johnson, Sr. 

to attend the Conference; now, therefore be it 

RESOLVED:  That the PFRS Board hereby ratifies the Board President’s approval of PFRS 

Plan Administrator Jones’ request to attend the 2022 California Association of Public 

Retirement Systems General Assembly from March 5, 2022 through March 8, 2022; and 

be it 

 

 

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   

bhakt9m
Mitesh Stamp



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8043 
 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes reimbursement of the expenses   

Plan Administrator Jones incurred to attend 2022 California Association of Public 

Retirement Systems General Assembly in an amount not to exceed Two Thousand 

Dollars ($2,000.00). 

IN BOARD MEETING, VIA ZOOM CONFERENCE   MARCH 30, 2022  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:   
ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY

 



2022 General Assembly
March 5 – March 8, 2022
Mission Bay Resort, San Diego, CA

FOCUSING

ON THE FUTURE
Creating and Sustaining Success

The California Association of Public Retirement Systems (CALAPRS) invites you to attend the Annual General Assembly,
March 5 - March 8, 2022 in sunny San Diego at the San Diego Mission Bay Resort! The General Assembly is an

educational conference for retirement system trustees, senior staff, and our annual sponsors. This year, we're planning
a safe return to the in-person format - attendees will learn from experts and peers, while getting the opportunity to

greet their colleagues face-to-face and network.
 

REGISTRATION

Retirement System Fee: $250/person
Sponsor Fee: Complimentary for up to 2
representatives*

Register online at www.calaprs.org/events.

*Annual sponsorship required.
(2) Two complimentary registrations to the General
Assembly
Access to the CALAPRS Systems Directory
A company listing in the CALAPRS Sponsor directory
Subscription to the semi-annual CALAPRS Newsletter

Sign-up to Sponsor at www.calaprs.org/sponsors.

Fee: $2,500
Sponsor Benefits:

SPONSORSHIP

LODGING

CALAPRS has arranged for a discounted room rate at
the meeting hotel, the San Diego Mission Bay Resort for
the duration of the meeting.

Room Rate: $229/night, plus taxes and fees*
Book Online:
https://bit.ly/SDMissionBay_CALAPRSGA22
By Phone: 877-259-0010; Group Code: CAL304

*The regular resort rate of $36/night is waived for those
who book under the CALAPRS discounted rate.

Cut-off Date: The room rate is available until February
2, 2022 or until the block is sold out, whichever comes
first.

HEALTH & SAFETY

CALAPRS is dedicated to providing a safe event
experience for all participants involved including
attendees, sponsors, staff, and guests. CALAPRS will
conduct the General Assembly as advised by
government (local, state, and national) regulations, CDC
recommendations, and venue requirements at the time
of the event. This may include, but is not limited to
social distancing, requiring proof of vaccination, or
wearing a face covering. CALAPRS will continue to
monitor guidelines for safe in-person events.
Requirements for attendance are subject to change.



FOCUSING

ON THE FUTURE
Creating and Sustaining SuccessPROGRAM

Early-Bird Registration

SATURDAY, MARCH 5

4:00 – 6:00 PM

Registration Open

AB1234 Ethics for Trustees
This two hour mandatory bi-annual training for public officials covers conflict of interest rules,
public meeting and record requirements, due process requirements and other significant rules
for legal compliance by public officials, with a particular focus on how these rules apply to
retirement board trustees and senior staff. Note - this session is designed for system trustees
and senior staff.
Speaker: Ashley Dunning, Partner, Nossaman LLP

Welcome Remarks
Speakers: Johanna Shick, CEO, San Joaquin County Employees Retirement Association
(SJCERA) and General Assembly Conference Chair; and Carl Nelson, CEO, San Luis Obispo
County Pension Trust and CALAPRS President

Issues Facing Pension Plans: A Fireside Chat with Hank Kim, Esq. and Kristen Santos,
Administrator
What is top of mind for our trustees and system administrators alike? During this fireside chat,
we’ll hear about what is most concerning for public pension systems from varying perspectives
– statewide, medium-sized pensions, and smaller/rural pensions.
Moderator: Steve Delaney, CEO, Orange County Employees Retirement System (OCERS)
Speakers: Hank Kim, Esq., Executive Director and Counsel, National Conference on Public
Employee Retirement Systems (NCPERS) and Kristen Santos, Administrator, Merced County
Employees’ Retirement Association (MCERA)

Networking Break

How Inflation will Impact Your Portfolio
During this session Jack Ross will discuss what pension systems should be aware of as they
manage their portfolios in the coming year. How will real assets portfolios be impacted by
higher inflation and what does it mean for the remainder of the portfolio? What are the
unforeseen risks on the portfolio? How might asset allocations need to change if we
have sustained inflation? How are investors measuring the impacts of higher inflation on their
portfolios? These are just some of the questions that will be addressed.
Speaker: Jack Ross, Managing Partner and Co-founder, Waterfall Asset Management

Strolling Dinner at San Diego Mission Bay Resort (outdoor venue)
System attendees may bring a guest to the Strolling Dinner. Please contact info@calaprs.org to
add your guest to your registration.

SUNDAY, MARCH 6

10:00 AM – 5:00 PM

10:00 AM – 12:00 PM

2:00 – 2:15 PM 

2:15 – 3:15 PM

3:15 – 3:30 PM

3:30 – 4:30 PM

7:00 – 9:30 PM



Registration Open
 
Breakfast (outdoor venue)

Opening Remarks
Speaker: Johanna Shick, CEO, San Joaquin County Employees Retirement Association
(SJCERA) and General Assembly Conference Chair

Keynote Session featuring Kristina Hooper, Chief Global Market Strategist, Invesco
During this session, Kristina Hooper will cover her current macro outlook for 2022, including
fiscal and monetary policy, asset class implications based on her base case outlook, as well as
implications for tail risk scenarios and key investment themes.

Networking Break

So Your System is Fully-Funded – What Now?
Recent record investment returns improved pension systems’ funding, in some cases to full (or
nearly full) funding. While full funding has been our goal, it presents challenges that most
systems haven’t contemplated in more than a decade. This panel of actuaries and investment
consultants will discuss the policy and implementation considerations Boards and staff should
consider. Should systems lower the return assumption? De-risk the portfolio? Establish a rainy-
day reserve? What about amortization layers? Do these policy decisions affect members and
employers differently? How do we manage potential pressure for benefit increases,
contribution holidays? Alternatively, what happens if you stay the course and maintain your
current policy?
Moderator: Jeff Wickman, Administrator, Marin County Employees’ Retirement Association
(MCERA)
Panelists: Paul Angelo, Senior Vice President and Actuary, The Segal Group; Graham Schmidt,
ASA, Consulting Actuary, Cheiron; Jeff MacLean, CEO, Verus; and Steve McCourt, CFA,
Managing Principal / Co-CEO, Meketa

Delegating to the Investment Staff
Some argue pension systems are increasing their delegation of asset management duties, but
how are those functions delegated and how does that affect the overall governance of the
organization. Who determines the investment strategies of a plan and how they're
implemented to ensure the success of plan assets? In this session, participants will hear from a
number of investment professionals to discuss how the practice has changed within their
systems, lessons learned, challenges, and successes.
Moderator: Roberto Peña, CEO, San Jose City Retirement Plans
Panelists: Shawn Dewane, Trustee, OCERS; Allan Emkin, Meketa Investment Gorup; Drew
Lanza, San Jose City P&F Retirement Plan Chair; Prabhu Palani, CIO, San Jose City Retirement
Plans; and Tim Price, CIO, Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA)

Lunch (outdoor venue)

Using A.I. in Retirement Administration
Artificial Intelligence is no longer a what-if, a myth, or some far-off idea that won’t come to
fruition until later in the future. It’s being used NOW and used by many retirement systems
worldwide, as well as by our supporting partners. So - what are they doing?  Hear from pension
plans, investment managers, and our partners in the private sector to hear about how they are
using AI now and how you can implement it in your own organizations.

Networking Break

MONDAY, MARCH 7

7:00 AM – 4:00 PM

7:15 – 8:15 AM

8:15 – 8:30 AM

8:30 – 9:30 AM

9:30 – 10:00 AM

10:00 – 11:00 AM

11:00 AM – 12:00 PM

12:00 – 1:30 PM

1:30 – 2:30 PM

2:30 – 3:00 PM



Death Verification
Timely detection of unreported deaths, and the resulting overpaid benefits, is an issue facing
many sectors of the financial services industry including public pension systems. Come hear
what steps CalPERS is taking to identify unreported deaths, confirm the living status of benefit
recipients, locate beneficiaries and collect overpayments.
Moderator: Anthony Suine, Deputy Executive Officer, Customer Services & Support, California
Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS)
Speakers: Roger Fujita, Assistant Division Chief, Disability and Survivor Benefits Division; and
Tiffany Triplett, Section Manager, Disability and Survivor Benefits Division, California Public
Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS)

Networking Reception (outdoor venue)

MONDAY, MARCH 7 (continued)

3:00 – 4:00 PM

5:00 – 6:00 PM

Registration Open

Breakfast (outdoor venue)

Succession Planning in the Public Pension Sector—Developing the Leadership
At the Board, executive, and staff levels, effective leadership and continuity of talent are key to
your organization’s success. Too often, we hear succession planning isn’t possible in the public
sector or, alternatively, the organization’s succession plan consists primarily of, “Call the
recruiter” or “Hopefully the Board of Supervisors appoints someone who knows about
investments to the Board.” This panel will discuss the programs and practices your organization
can put in place now at the Board, Executive, and staff levels to help ensure there are well-
qualified people ready, willing and able to step forward when turnover occurs.
Moderator: Johanna Shick, CEO, San Joaquin County Employees’ Retirement Association
(SJCERA)
Panelists: Amy McDuffee, Founder and CEO, Mosaic Governance Advisors; Melissa Norcia,
Chief Administrative Officer, CalSTRS; and Debra Smith, CEO, Montage Careers

Networking Break

Cybersecurity and the Retirement System – What You Can do NOW to Protect Your
Organization
We’ve heard it before and we all know that cyber crimes are not something to take lightly, but
what can our systems do now to protect ourselves, especially now that most have transitioned
to a fully virtual or hybrid workplace? During this session, panelists will provide tangible best
practices that our public pension systems should adopt to ensure they’re secure.
Moderator: Vijay Jagar, CTO, Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association (ACERA) 
Panelists: Matt Eakin, CISSP, CCSP, CEH, Director of Cyber Security, Orange County
Employees' Retirement System (OCERS); Harsh Jadhav, Chief of Internal Audit, Alameda
County Employees' Retirement Association (ACERA); and James Vorhis, Co-Chair, Insurance
Recovery & Counseling Group, Nossaman LLP

Closing Remarks
Speaker: Johanna Shick, CEO, San Joaquin County Employees’ Retirement Association
(SJCERA)

TUESDAY, MARCH 8

7:30 - 10:30 AM

7:30 – 8:30 AM

8:30 – 9:30 AM

9:30 – 10:00 AM

10:00 – 11:00 AM

11:00 AM

GENERAL ASSEMBLY PLANNING COMMITTEE: Johanna Shick, SJCERA (Chair); Steve Delaney, OCERS; Scott Hood,
SamCERA; David Nelsen, ACERA; Roberto Peña, San Jose City Retirement Plans; Kristen Santos, MercedCERA; and
Anthony Suine, CalPERS



For one-on-one presentation only, not for public distribution.



1Assets include assets under management and assets under advisement.

1



The above information is a sample list of current Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC (RHJ) clients, which were randomly selected institutional clients to represent

a cross section of our diverse client base. The list is neither representative nor should be considered an endorsement by any above-listed client of either RHJ or

RHJ’s investment advisory services. It is not known whether the listed clients approve or disapprove of RHJ or the services the clients receive from RHJ.























Past performance does not guarantee future results. Performance is reported in U.S. Dollars, gross and net of fees and is annualized for periods greater than one year.

For performance calculation purposes, the portfolio’s inception date is July 31, 2017. Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest

directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and other characteristics that may differ from an investment account

strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and do not reflect transaction costs, management or other fees.

Source: FactSet*Annualized



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

City of Oakland Russell 2000 Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 4.58 4.58 100.00 0.01 0.01 0.10 4.46 4.56

Health Care 22.30 1.13 0.42 26.89 -11.42 -2.89 0.58 2.95 3.52

Information Technology 26.45 9.42 2.48 22.81 5.09 1.06 0.20 1.23 1.43

Financials 7.41 19.27 1.18 5.50 9.01 0.41 0.15 0.69 0.84

Energy -- -- -- 2.15 -1.27 -0.03 0.03 -- 0.03

[Cash] 3.68 0.01 0.00 -- -- -- 0.02 -- 0.02

Consumer Discretionary 15.95 -2.09 -0.40 14.75 -0.38 -0.18 0.02 -0.28 -0.26

Consumer Staples 3.14 9.43 0.25 3.67 5.90 0.22 -0.01 0.07 0.07

Materials 1.94 0.46 0.01 3.12 2.79 0.06 -0.03 -0.04 -0.07

Utilities -- -- -- 0.33 14.18 0.04 -0.04 -- -0.04

Industrials 12.98 7.98 1.07 14.95 9.61 1.18 -0.08 -0.26 -0.34

Communication Services 6.15 -8.11 -0.44 2.84 -10.07 -0.26 -0.34 0.12 -0.22

Real Estate -- -- -- 2.99 13.80 0.40 -0.40 -- -0.40

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and

other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and do not

reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to disclosures at the end of this document.



City of Oakland Russell Microcap Growth Attribution Analysis

GICS Sector

Avg.

Port. Wt.

Port.

Return

Port. 

Contrib.

Avg.

Bmrk. Wt.

Bmrk. 

Return

Bmrk. 

Contrib.

Alloc. 

Effect

Select 

Effect

Total 

Effect

Total 100.00 16.17 16.17 100.00 2.83 2.83 1.40 11.94 13.34

Health Care 23.55 -1.86 0.13 30.36 -21.66 -6.15 1.81 5.54 7.35

Financials 5.80 74.49 2.99 4.64 18.16 0.71 0.29 2.16 2.44

Communication Services 6.68 22.78 1.68 2.72 -10.90 -0.40 -0.50 2.46 1.96

Information Technology 25.54 16.53 4.30 21.38 13.72 2.58 0.47 0.94 1.41

Consumer Discretionary 14.95 25.52 3.44 14.57 16.70 1.72 0.11 1.17 1.28

Industrials 13.26 23.80 3.10 14.83 21.34 2.78 -0.13 0.25 0.12

Utilities -- -- -- 0.90 21.69 0.10 0.04 -- 0.04

[Cash] 4.43 0.04 0.00 -- -- -- 0.02 -- 0.02

Telecommunication Services -- -- -- 0.03 14.22 0.00 -0.00 -- -0.00

Consumer Staples 3.78 9.39 0.62 3.38 19.86 0.55 0.15 -0.25 -0.10

Energy -- -- -- 1.12 69.17 -0.02 -0.10 -- -0.10

Materials 2.01 -5.32 -0.09 2.86 12.97 0.24 -0.08 -0.33 -0.41

Real Estate -- -- -- 3.22 25.16 0.71 -0.67 -- -0.67

Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and

other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and do not

reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to disclosures at the end of this document.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and

other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and do not

reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to disclosures at the end of this document.



Sources: FactSet, GICS Sector Classification, & FTSE Russell

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Attribution results are based on sector returns, which are gross of fees and include reinvestment of all income. Indices

are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and

other characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends and do not

reflect transaction costs, management or other fees. Please refer to disclosures at the end of this document.



Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Securities mentioned do not make up entire portfolio and, in the aggregate, may represent a small percentage of the
portfolio. Holdings are subject to change and are based on a representative account. A complete list of portfolio holdings and specific securities transactions for the
preceding 12 months is available upon request. It should not be assumed that recommendations made in the future will be profitable or will equal the performance of
securities in this presentation. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, or one or more of its officers, may have a position in the securities discussed herein and may purchase
or sell such securities from time to time.



Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Securities mentioned do not make up entire portfolio and, in the aggregate, may represent a small percentage of the
portfolio. Holdings are subject to change and are based on a representative account. A complete list of portfolio holdings and specific securities transactions for the
preceding 12 months is available upon request. It should not be assumed that recommendations made in the future will be profitable or will equal the performance of
securities in this presentation. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, or one or more of its officers, may have a position in the securities discussed herein and may purchase
or sell such securities from time to time.







¹ 5-year Earnings Per Share (EPS) growth, compounded annually.

² ROIC = Return on Invested Capital.

Relative performance compares individual Russell® 2000 constituent performance vs. an equal-weighted index (Russell 2000) return. Only the Russell 2000

constituents (as of 12/31/2020) with 5 years of measurable history (EPS, ROIC and Performance) were used in the study. The index return is calculated using the

combined equal-weighted 5 year return of these Russell 2000 constituents as of 12/31/2020. The Russell® 2000 Index measures the performance of the small-cap

segment of the U.S. equity universe. The Russell 2000 Index is a subset of the Russell 3000® Index representing approximately 10% of the total market

capitalization of that index. It includes approximately 2000 of the smallest securities based on a combination of their market cap and current index membership.

The Russell 2000 is constructed to provide a comprehensive and unbiased small-cap barometer and is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks

do not distort the performance and characteristics of the true small-cap opportunity set. The index is calculated on a total-return basis with dividends reinvested.

Sources: FactSet & FTSE Russell





































































►



►



































►





















Past performance is no guarantee of future results. Holdings are subject to change and are based on a representative account. Sector weightings may not add up to 100%

due to rounding. A complete list of portfolio holdings and specific securities transactions for the preceding 12 months is available upon request. It should not be assumed that

recommendations made in the future will be profitable or will equal the performance of securities in this article. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC, or one or more of its

officers, may have a position in the securities discussed herein and may purchase or sell such securities from time to time.

Sources: FactSet & S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC



The information above is based on a representative account. Sector and market capitalization weightings may not add up to 100% due to rounding. Please see

important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the indices and sector classification shown above.

Sources: FactSet & GICS Sector Classification



*P/E Ratio calculation excludes companies with negative earnings.

The information above is based on a representative account. Please see important disclosure information at the end of this presentation regarding the indices

shown above.

Sources: FactSet & eVestment Analytics



Past performance does not guarantee future results. Performance is preliminary and subject to change. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees

in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December

31, 2020.

Source: FactSet*Annualized



Past performance does not guarantee future results. Composite returns are shown both gross and net of fees in U.S. dollars. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC's

compliance with the GIPS standards has been verified for the period January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2020. RHJ’s GIPS Report is located at the end of this

presentation as well as other important disclosure information regarding the returns and indices shown above.

Source: FTSE Russell*Performance represents a non-annualized partial period return beginning on the composite’s inception date October 01, 1994.













Return on Equity - This statistic reflects the amount of net income returned as a percentage of shareholders equity. Return on equity measures a corporation’s profitability by revealing how much profit a
company generates with the money shareholders have invested. Net income is for the full fiscal year (before dividends paid to common stock holders but after dividends to preferred stock.)

Sources: eVestment Analytics & FactSet



Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell



N/A1 - Information is not statistically meaningful due to an insufficient number of portfolios in the composite for the entire calendar year (five or fewer).

*Results shown for the year 1994 represent partial period performance from October 10 through December 31, 1994.



N/A1 - Performance presented prior to September 30, 2008, occurred while the portfolio management team was affiliated with another firm. Firm and strategy assets 

prior to 2008 are not presented because the composite was not part of the firm.

*Assets Under Management + Advisory-Only Assets totals may differ from Total Assets Under Management and Total Advisory-Only Assets due to rounding.



The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite contains all fully discretionary, tax-exempt, institutional, and high net worth portfolios invested in small cap companies that have three primary

characteristics: high earnings growth, high or improving return-on-invested capital, and sustainable competitive advantages. The composite was created on April 1, 1999, and the inception date is

October 10, 1994. The performance presented prior to October 1, 2008, represents that of a prior firm and was known as the Small Cap Growth Institutional Composite. The portfolio management

team members were the only individuals responsible for selecting securities to buy and sell. The minimum account size for this composite is $1 million. From January 1, 1996 to March 31, 2004,

the minimum account size was $5 million. Prior to January 1, 1996, there was no minimum. For comparison purposes the composite is measured against the Russell 2000 Growth index.

Results are based on fully discretionary accounts under management, including those accounts no longer with the firm. As of January 1, 2005, composite policy requires the temporary removal of

any portfolios incurring a client initiated significant cash inflow or outflow of 50% or greater of portfolio assets. The temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in

which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite the month after the cash flow is fully invested. From January 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006, the temporary removal of

such an account occurred at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. From July 1,

2006 to September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the quarter in which the significant cash flow occurs and the account re-enters the composite

the second calendar quarter after the cash flow. As of September 30, 2008, the temporary removal of such an account occurs at the beginning of the month in which the significant cash flow

occurred and the account is re-entered into the composite the month after the cash flow. Additional information regarding the treatment of significant cash flows is available upon request. Past

performance is not indicative of future results.

Founded in 1974, Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC is an SEC registered investment adviser. The firm is 100% employee owned.

The U.S. Dollar is the currency used to express performance. Returns are presented gross and net of management fees, and include the reinvestment of all income. Net of fee performance was

calculated using actual management fees. The annual composite dispersion presented is an asset-weighted standard deviation calculated for the gross returns of accounts in the composite the

entire year. Additional information regarding policies for valuing investments, calculating performance, and preparing GIPS Reports are available upon request. The firm maintains a complete list

of pooled funds and composite descriptions, which is available upon request.

Indices are provided for comparative purposes only. An investor cannot invest directly in an index. Comparisons have limitations because indices may have volatility, investment and other

characteristics that may differ from an investment account strategy to which it is compared. Indices are unmanaged, include the reinvestment of dividends, and do not reflect transaction costs,

management, or other fees. The Russell 2000® Growth Index measures the performance of the small-cap growth segment of the U.S. equity universe. It includes those Russell 2000 companies

with higher price-to-value ratios and higher forecasted growth values. The Russell 2000 Growth Index is constructed to provide a comprehensive and unbiased barometer for the small-cap growth

segment. The Index is completely reconstituted annually to ensure larger stocks do not distort the performance and characteristics of the true small-cap opportunity set and that the represented

companies continue to reflect growth characteristics.

The management fee schedule is as follows: 1.0% flat rate. Actual investment advisory fees incurred by clients may vary.

Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC claims compliance with the Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS®) and has prepared and presented this report in compliance with the GIPS

standards. Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC has been independently verified for the periods January 1, 1993 through December 31, 2020. A firm that claims compliance with the GIPS

standards must establish policies and procedures for complying with all the applicable requirements of the GIPS standards. Verification provides assurance on whether the firm's policies and

procedures related to composite and pooled fund maintenance, as well as the calculation, presentation, and distribution of performance, have been designed in compliance with the GIPS

standards and have been implemented on a firm-wide basis. The RHJ Small Cap Opportunities Composite has had a performance examination for the periods October 1, 2008 through

December 31, 2020. The verification and performance examination reports are available upon request at the following address: 600 West Broadway, Suite 1000, San Diego, California 92101.

GIPS® is a registered trademark of CFA Institute. CFA Institute does not endorse or promote this organization, nor does it warrant the accuracy or quality of the content contained herein.

Index Definition Source: FTSE Russell



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (OPFRS) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group 

DATE:  March 30, 2022 

RE:  Rice Hall James– Manager Update 

 

Manager:  Rice Hall James 

Inception Date:  July, 2017 OPFRS AUM (12/31/2021): $17.4 million 

Strategy:  Small Cap Opportunities Firm-wide AUM (12/31/2021):  $2.9 billion 

Benchmark:   Russell 2000 Growth  Strategy AUM (12/31/2021): $1.5 billion 

Summary & Recommendation 

Rice Hall James has experienced poor relative performance in 2019 and 2020, which has resulted in 

negative relative performance over all longer-term periods measured. Meketa has no organizational 

concerns with Rice Hall James at this time. During the trailing 12-month period ending February 2022, 

RHJ has consistently achieved positive excess return for the portfolio on monthly basis for eight months 

and posted 12.2% and 0.8% in excess returns for the trailing 1- and 3-year periods. Therefore, Meketa 

recommends Rich Hall James (RHJ) be removed from “Watch” status.  In addition Meketa recommends that 

OPFRS renew its contract with RHJ.   

Discussion 

Rice Hall James began managing OPFRS’s small cap growth portfolio at the beginning of July 2017, which 

is now approximately $17.4 million or about 3.6% of OPFRS’s total allocation. From March 2021 through 

February 2022, RHJ has produced a net-of-fee excess return of 12.2%. Year-to-date the portfolio has 

outperformed the Russell 2000 Growth benchmark by 3.0%. It has also outperformed over the trailing 3-

year period by 0.8% while keeping pace with the benchmark since inception on net-of-fees basis. 

 

OPFRS Portfolio Annualized Returns (as of 2/28/2022) 

Manager 

Mkt Value 

($000) Asset Class YTD 1 YR 3 YR 5 YR 

Since 

Inception 

Inception 

Date 

Rice Hall James (Gross) 15,715 Small Cap Growth -9.9 -4.2 11.2 --- 11.1 7/2017 

Russell 2000 Growth --- --- -13.0 -17.4 9.2 --- 10.0 --- 

Excess Return --- --- 3.1 13.2 2.0 --- 1.1 --- 

Rank --- --- 14 30 85 --- 88 --- 

Rice Hall James (Net) 15,715 Small Cap Growth -10.0 -5.2 10.0 --- 10.0 7/2017 

Russell 2000 Growth --- --- -13.0 -17.4 9.2 --- 10.0 --- 

Excess Return --- --- 3.0 12.2 0.8 --- 0.0 --- 

Rank --- --- 13 22 83 --- 89 --- 



 

March 30, 2022

 

 
 

Product and Organization Review Summary 

Rice Hall James 
 

Areas of Potential Impact 

 
Level of 

Concern 

Investment 

process 

(client 

portfolio) 

Investme

nt Team 

 Performance 

Track Record 

Team/ 

Firm 

Culture 

Product      

Key people changes None     

Changes to team structure/individuals’ roles None     

Product client gain/losses None     

Changes to the investment process None     

Personnel turnover None     

Organization      

Ownership changes None     

Key people changes None     

Firm wide client gain/losses None     

Recommended Action None - X Watch Status Termination 

A review of Rice Hall James and the Small Cap Opportunities Strategy revealed no significant 

organizational issues or changes. Since Rice Hall James last manager update in 2017, there has been 

no turnover in the portfolio management team and there was no reported turnover among the  

analyst team. 

  

Page 2 of 4 



 

March 30, 2022

 

 
 

Investment Philosophy & Process, per manager 

Rice Hall James’ Small Cap Opportunities strategy employs a fundamental, bottom-up analytical process to 

identify companies that meet three primary criteria: high earnings growth, high or improving  

return-on-invested capital (ROIC), and sustainable competitive advantages. RHJ’s philosophy is rooted in 

historical analysis indicating the high relative return potential of these factors in combination. They believe 

that superior results can be achieved by owning companies that exhibit not only high earnings growth, but 

also the ability to sustainably generate high ROIC over long periods of time. RHJ’s investment universe 

consists of companies with market capitalizations between $100 million and $4 billion at the time of purchase. 

The heart of RHJ’s process is fundamental, bottom-up analysis at the company level. The portfolio managers 

conduct all research on every company held in the portfolio. As generalists, each with over twenty years of 

investment experience, both portfolio managers bring to bear extensive knowledge of the companies they 

own or follow, understanding of industries, and general expertise on the small cap landscape in various 

market environments. Cornerstones of the bottom-up fundamental investment process include: 

• Clear understanding of a firm’s competitive context and advantages 

• Assessment of the sustainability characteristics of the underlying business 

• Emphasis on high or improving ROIC; a clear sense of the future direction of ROIC 

• Estimation of ability to generate and grow free cash flow over life of the investment 

• Valuation that affords a reasonable return over investment horizon 

• Scrutiny of company management, ability to identify/ execute on the right plan 

Idea generation begins with an analysis of companies within the FactSet universe with market caps ranging 

from $100 million to $4 billion, with an emphasis on growth-oriented industries comprised of companies that 

feature high earnings growth and high ROIC criteria. Health Care, Technology, and Consumer traditionally 

have been rich with such companies. They also look for new or emerging industries that can support high 

growth companies going forward. While these types of investments typically carry more risk, certain areas of 

the internet and biotechnology, for example, management believes they can create space for attractive  

long-term growth characteristics. 

Finally, RHJ looks for catalysts within industries that are not typically associated with growth characteristics, 

seeking to capitalize on tactical growth opportunities that arise due to demographic, regulatory and 

supply/demand issues. Cyclical industries can provide the landscape for attractive growth opportunities to 

crop up due to such changes. 

At the company level, RHJ focuses on businesses that can generate above-average earnings and free cash 

flow relative to the benchmark. Management favors companies that they believe can achieve these results in 

tandem with sustained high ROIC, or that can increase their returns to above-average levels over the relevant 

investment horizon. It is essential that a company can protect these attributes through a well-defined, 

competitive position, which will protect growth, margins and returns.  

Since strong relative results tend to manifest over longer holding periods, RHJ focuses on long-term 

sustainability factors rather than short-term data points and market movements; as such, low turnover is a 

notable characteristic of the portfolio. 

Page 3 of 4 



 

March 30, 2022

 

 

Disclosure 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT 

(THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS 

NOT OUR FUNCTION OR RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS 

PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT 

TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO GUARANTEE THAT THE 

STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, 

AND OTHER EXTERNAL SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS 

REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” 

WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, 

“ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” “CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES 

THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY FORWARD - LOOKING 

STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED 

UPON CURRENT ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON 

FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL 

RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, 

OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO 

GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS. 

 

DS/PS/ep 

Page 4 of 4 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO.   8044 
 
 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER        SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION MODIFYING THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
AGREEMENT WITH RICE HALL JAMES & ASSOCIATES, LLC IN ORDER 
TO (1) PROVIDE FOR UNLIMITED ONE-YEAR EXTENSION OPTIONS 
UNDER SECTION IV(B) AND (2) AUTHORIZE A ONE-YEAR EXTENSION 
OF THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION 
OF DOMESTIC EQUITY SMALL-CAP GROWTH INVESTMENT 
MANAGER SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 
WHEREAS, Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) states that the Board of the 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS Board”) shall possess power to 

make all necessary rules and regulation for its guidance and shall have exclusive 

control of the administration and investment of the funds established for the 

maintenance and operation of the system; and 

WHEREAS, Oakland City Charter section 2601(e) also states that the PFRS Board 

may secure from competent investment counsel such counsel and advice as to 

investing the funds of the Retirement System as it deems necessary and that 

discretionary powers granted such investment counsel will be at the option of the 

PFRS Board; and 

WHEREAS, on December 21, 2016, the PFRS Board passed a motion to enter into 

a professional service agreement (“the Agreement”) with Rice Hall James & 

Associates, LLC (“Investment Counsel”) to  provide advice and counsel regarding 

investments of the assets of the Police and Fire Retirement Fund (“Fund”) for the 

provision of Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth Investment Manager Services; and 

WHEREAS, on February 22, 2017 the PFRS Board ratified the December 21, 2016 

motion by approving Resolution No. 6942 authorizing the PFRS Board to enter into 

the  Agreement with Investment Counsel for the provision of Domestic Equity Small-

Cap Growth Investment Manager Services; and 

WHEREAS, the Agreement between the PFRS Board and Investment Counsel 

commenced March 1, 2017 for a five-year term; and 

WHEREAS, Section XX of the Agreement allows for modification of the 

Agreement by written agreement of all parties; and 

WHEREAS, the Agreement was amended by writing dated October 1, 2021 (the 

First Amendment); and 

Approved to Form 
and Legality 

 
  

bhakt9m
Mitesh Stamp



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO.   8044 
 

WHEREAS, Section IV(B) of the Agreement gave the PRFRS Board the option to 

extend the initial term of the Agreement for three addition one-year terms by giving 

Investment Counsel written notice of its intent to exercise its option not less than 

sixty days prior to the expiration of the term or extended term of the agreement; 

and 

WHEREAS, the PFRS Board wishes to have unlimited one-year extension options 

to extend said Agreement, and Investment Counsel agrees with the PFRS Board; and 

WHEREAS, the PFRS Board and Investment Counsel agree and wish the 

Agreement be amended to modify Section IV(B) to provide for unlimited one-year 

extension options; and 

WHEREAS, the PFRS Board now wishes to exercise its option to renew the 

Agreement with Investment Counsel for an additional one-year term, commencing 

March 1, 2022; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board authorizes an amendment to the Agreement 

provision in Section IV(B) in order to provide for unlimited one-year extension 

options; and be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That all other terms of the Agreement and the First 

Amendment, which are not modified herein, shall remain in full force and effect; and 

be it 

FURTHER RESOLVED:  That the Board hereby authorizes a one-year extension 

of the professional service agreement between the City of Oakland Police and Fire 

Retirement System and Rice Hall James & Associates, LLC for the provision of 

Domestic Equity Small-Cap Growth Investment Manager Services, commencing 

March 1, 2022 and ending February 28, 2023. 

IN BOARD MEETING, VIA ZOOM TELE-CONFERENCE                        MARCH 30, 2022  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSTAIN:    

ABSENT:   

 
                                                                                             ATTEST:    

                              PRESIDENT 

                                                                                             ATTEST:    
                             SECRETARY 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

February 2022 Report  

 

 

Economic and Market Update  



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

February Commentary 

 Russia’s invasion of Ukraine created significant uncertainty and further increased volatility. 

 Except for inflation sensitive assets like TIPS and commodities, most asset classes declined in 

February. 

 Volatility in equities, as represented by the VIX, further increased. 

 Equity markets again led declines with emerging markets falling the most. 

 Russian assets and currency experienced major declines. 

 Rates rose across the US yield curve, with flattening continuing. 

 Value-oriented equities again outpaced growth in the US given higher rates. 

 The dollar strengthened against a broad basket of peers with safe-haven flows after month-end 

pushing it even higher. 

 Inflation expectations rose with the spike in some key commodities. 

 The conflict in eastern Europe will have considerable economic and financial consequences for the global 

economy including the pacing of policy rate tightening, the risk of policy mistakes, and supply shocks 

pushing inflation even higher around the world.  

  

Page 2 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Index Returns1 
 2021 YTD 

 

 Outside of emerging markets and the broad US investment grade bond market (Barclays Aggregate), most 

asset classes appreciated in 2021. 

 In comparison, 2022 is off to a weak start with all major asset classes except commodities declining given 

expectations for policy tightening, slower growth, inflation, and economic uncertainty related to Russia’s 

invasion of Ukraine. 
  

 
1 Data Source: Bloomberg and FactSet. Data is as of February 28, 2022. 

43.2%

28.7%

27.1%

25.7%

18.5%

14.8%

11.3%

6.0%

6.0%

5.3%

-1.5%

-2.5%

-8.7%

FTSE NAREIT Equity

S&P 500

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Russell 3000

MSCI ACWI

Russell 2000

MSCI EAFE

HFRI Fund of Funds

Bloomberg Barclays US TIPS

Bloomberg Barclays High Yield

Bloomberg Barclays Aggregate

MSCI Emerging Markets

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD)

15.6%

-1.2%

-3.2%

-3.4%

-3.7%

-4.8%

-5.0%

-6.5%

-7.4%

-8.0%

-8.3%

-8.7%

-9.8%

Bloomberg Commodity Index

Bloomberg Barclays US TIPS

Bloomberg Barclays Aggregate

HFRI Fund of Funds

Bloomberg Barclays High Yield

MSCI Emerging Markets

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD)

MSCI EAFE

MSCI ACWI

S&P 500

Russell 3000

Russell 2000

FTSE NAREIT Equity

Page 3 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Domestic Equity Returns1 

Domestic Equity 

February 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

S&P 500 -3.0 -8.0 16.4 18.2 15.2 14.5 

Russell 3000 -2.5 -8.3 12.3 17.6 14.7 14.2 

Russell 1000 -2.7 -8.2 13.7 18.1 15.1 14.5 

Russell 1000 Growth -4.3 -12.5 12.6 23.2 20.2 16.9 

Russell 1000 Value -1.2 -3.5 15.0 12.2 9.5 11.7 

Russell MidCap -0.7 -8.0 7.1 14.3 12.0 12.8 

Russell MidCap Growth -1.2 -14.0 -4.3 14.7 14.9 13.5 

Russell MidCap Value -0.5 -4.7 13.8 12.7 9.2 11.9 

Russell 2000 1.1 -8.7 -6.0 10.5 9.5 11.0 

Russell 2000 Growth 0.4 -13.0 -17.4 9.2 10.5 11.2 

Russell 2000 Value 1.7 -4.3 6.6 10.9 8.0 10.5 

US Equities: Russell 3000 Index -2.5%, and value indices again outperformed growth in February. 

 US large cap and mid cap stock indices declined during February amid persistent inflation and geopolitical 

turbulence. US small cap stock indices edged up.  

 Value stocks continued to outpace growth stocks partly driven by strong returns in the energy sector and 

weakness in the technology sector. 

 Small company stocks (Russell 2000) outperformed large cap company stocks (Russell 1000). The declines 

of several large technology and communication services stocks (e.g., Meta and Apple) contributed to this 

dynamic.   
 

1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022.  

Page 4 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Foreign Equity Returns1 

Foreign Equity 

February 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

MSCI ACWI  -2.6 -7.4 7.8 13.4 11.4 9.8 

MSCI ACWI ex. US -2.0 -5.6 -0.4 7.7 7.3 5.4 

MSCI EAFE -1.8 -6.5 2.8 7.8 7.2 6.1 

MSCI EAFE (Local Currency) -2.2 -5.7 9.5 8.0 6.6 8.4 

MSCI EAFE Small Cap -1.3 -8.5 -1.5 8.6 7.9 8.3 

MSCI Emerging Markets -3.0 -4.8 -10.7 6.0 7.0 3.4 

MSCI Emerging Markets (Local Currency) -2.4 -4.1 -8.8 7.5 8.4 6.4 

International Developed Market Equities: MSCI EAFE -1.8% and MSCI ACWI ex. US -2.0% for February. 

 Returns in international markets were negative for the month as well, with the bulk of the declines seen in 
the last week of February, in the wake of Russia’s military actions. Developed markets beat emerging 
markets given direct exposure to Russia in the emerging market index.  

 Value also outperformed growth in international equity markets. A strong US dollar weighed on non-US 
developed and emerging markets equities. 

Emerging Markets: MSCI EM -3.0% in February. 

 The index was flat for the month before the announcement of the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Russian 
stocks and the ruble plunged with sanctions and trading halts.  

 Major index providers announced the removal of Russia from their indices, essentially marking 
pre-invasion index exposure down to zero.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022. 

Page 5 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Fixed Income Returns1 

Fixed Income 

 

February 

(%) 

YTD 

(%) 

1 YR 

(%) 

3 YR 

(%) 

5 YR 

(%) 

10 YR 

(%) 

Current 

Yield 

(%) 

Duration 

(Years) 

Bloomberg Universal -1.4 -3.5 -2.7 3.4 2.9 2.8 2.7 6.6 

Bloomberg Aggregate -1.1 -3.2 -2.6 3.3 2.7 2.5 2.3 6.8 

Bloomberg US TIPS 0.9 -1.2 6.1 7.5 4.8 2.7 1.9 7.7 

Bloomberg High Yield -1.0 -3.7 0.6 5.3 4.9 5.9 5.6 4.6 

JPM GBI-EM Global Diversified (USD) -5.0 -5.0 -10.0 -1.1 1.0 -0.8% 6.1 5.1 

Fixed Income: Barclays Universal -1.4% in February. 

 Continued concerns about policy tightening and inflation led to the broad US bond market (Barclays 

Aggregate) declining again in February. The nominal 10-year Treasury yield rose slightly above the 2% yield 

level at mid-month before finishing the month at 1.8% due to safe-haven flows. 

 TIPS were the only positive area in fixed income, benefiting from growing inflation fears. 

 In February US credit spreads widened slightly as risk assets fell. They remain at low levels though given 

relatively strong corporate health and high investor demand in the low-rate environment. 

 Emerging market debt declined driven by the Russian invasion of Ukraine.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. JPM GBI-EM is from InvestorForce, data is as of February 28, 2022.  

Page 6 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Equity and Fixed Income Volatility1 

 

 Volatility in equity (VIX) and fixed income (MOVE) increased at the start of the year, driven largely by 

expectations that the Federal Reserve would tighten monetary policy faster than previously expected. 

 In February, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine further increased market volatility. 

 

 
1 Equity and Fixed Income Volatility – Source: Bloomberg. Implied volatility as measured using VIX Index for equity markets and the MOVE Index to measure interest rate volatility for fixed income 

markets. Data is as of February 2022. The average line indicated is the average of the VIX and MOVE values between January 2000 and the present month-end respectively. 

Page 7 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E Ratios1 

 

 In February valuations in the US equity market declined further given the 3% fall in the market, but they 

remain well above long-term averages (near +2 standard deviations).  

 International developed market valuations remain below the US with emerging markets under its long-term 

average. 
  

 
1 US Equity Cyclically Adjusted P/E on S&P 500 Index. Source: Robert Shiller, Yale University, and Meketa Investment Group. Developed and Emerging Market Equity (MSCI EAFE and EM Index) Cyclically 

Adjusted P/E – Source: MSCI and Bloomberg. Earnings figures represent the average of monthly “as reported” earnings over the previous ten years. Data is as of February 28, 2022. The average line 

is the long-term average of the US, EM, and EAFE PE values from December 1999 to month-end respectively.  

Page 8 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

US Yield Curve1 

 

 The trends of higher rates across maturities and curve flattening continued in February. The spread 

between a two-year and ten-year Treasury declined by 0.24% for the month, ending at 0.36%. 

 Expectations for tighter monetary policy by the Federal Reserve responding to persistently high inflation 

and improvements in the labor market continue to influence rates.  

 The conflict between Russia and Ukraine has increased concerns over inflation and could influence rates 

moving forward. 
  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022. 

0%

0.5%

1%

1.5%

2%

2.5%

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 5Y 7Y 10Y 30Y

12/31/2020 12/31/2021 2/28/2022

Page 9 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Ten-Year Breakeven Inflation and CPI1 

 

 Inflation expectations (breakevens) increased in February, remaining well above long-term averages. After 

month-end, breakevens experienced a significant increase driven by the decline in real rates due to falling 

growth expectations. 

 Trailing twelve-month CPI continued to rise in February, reaching 7.9%, a level not reached since the early 

1980s and far above the long-term average of 2.3%.  

 Rising prices for energy and food, and for new and used cars, remain key drivers of higher inflation.  

  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022. The CPI and 10 Year Breakeven average lines denote the average values from August 1998 to the present month-end respectively.  

Page 10 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Credit Spreads vs. US Treasury Bonds1 

 

 Credit spreads (the spread above a comparable maturity Treasury) increased in February particularly for 

riskier bonds given the risk-off environment. 

 The search for yield in a low-rate environment and still strong corporate fundamentals with low default risk 

have been key drivers in the decline in credit spreads to below long-term averages here in the US. Despite 

the recent increase in spreads, high yield spreads remain well below the long-term average. 

 
1 Sources: Barclays Live and Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022. Average lines denote the average of the investment grade, high yield, and emerging market spread values from August 2000 

to the present month-end respectively.  

Page 11 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Global Economic Outlook 

The IMF is forecasting strong growth again this year but continues to downgrade expectations given the lingering 
pandemic and persistent inflation. The war in Ukraine will likely further depress growth projections going forward. 

 The IMF forecasts final global GDP to come in at 5.9% in 2021 and 4.4% in 2022 (0.5% below the prior 
estimate), still well above the past ten-year average of 3.1%. 

 In advanced economies, GDP is projected to increase 3.9% in 2022 and 2.6% in 2023. These levels are still 
above potential as economies re-open and vaccination progress is made. The US forecast experienced a 
significant reduction in 2022 (4.0% versus 5.2%) given policy reduction earlier than previously expected, 
high inflation, and struggles in passing fiscal programs. The euro area economy is expected to grow 3.9% 
in 2022 and 2.5% in 2023, while the Japanese economy is expected to grow 3.3% in 2022 and 1.8% in 2023. 

 Growth projections for emerging markets are higher than developed markets at 4.8% in 2022 and 4.7% in 
2023. China’s growth was notably downgraded 0.8% to 4.8% in 2022 given tight COVID-19 restrictions and 
continued problems in the property sector. 

 Globally, inflation is projected to be above long-term averages in 2022 but decline from current levels. 

 Real GDP (%)1 Inflation (%)1 

 

IMF 

2022 Forecast 

IMF 

2023 Forecast 

Actual 

10 Year Average 

IMF 

2022 Forecast 

IMF 

2023 Forecast 

Actual 

10 Year Average 

World 4.4 3.8 3.1 3.8 3.3 3.4 

Advanced Economies 3.9 2.6 1.6 2.3 1.9 1.4 

US 4.0 2.6 2.0 3.5 2.7 1.8 

Euro Area 3.9 2.5 1.0 1.7 1.4 1.2 

Japan 3.3 1.8 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.5 

Emerging Economies  4.8 4.7 4.3 4.9 4.3 5.0 

China 4.8 5.2 7.0 1.8 1.9 2.1 

 
1 Source: IMF World Economic Outlook. Real GDP forecasts from January WEO Update. Inflation as of the October 2021 Update. ”Actual 10 Year Average” represents data from 2012 to 2021. 

Page 12 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Global Nominal Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Growth1 

 

 Global economies are expected to slow in 2022 compared to 2021 but are forecasted to have another year 

of largely above-trend growth as economies continue to emerge from the pandemic. 

 Looking forward, the track of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, continued supply chain issues, 

on-going inflationary pressures, tighter monetary policy, and lingering pandemic problems all remain key. 

 
1 Source: Oxford Economics (World GDP, US$ prices & PPP exchange rate, nominal, % change YoY). Updated February 2022. 

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Projected

Global 

Growth

Page 13 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Central Bank Response1 

Policy Rates 

 

Balance Sheet as % of GDP 

 

 After global central banks took extraordinary action to support the economy during the pandemic including 

policy rate cuts and emergency stimulus through quantitative easing (QE), many are considering reducing 

support in the face of high inflation. 

 The pace of withdrawing support will likely vary across central banks with the US expected to take a more 

aggressive approach. The risk remains for a policy error, particularly overtightening, as the war in Ukraine 

could suppress global growth. 

 The one notable exception is China, where the central bank recently lowered rates and reserve 

requirements in response to slowing growth.  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Policy rate data is as of February 28, 2022. China policy rate is defined as the medium-term lending facility 1 year interest rate. Balance sheet as % of GDP is based on quarterly data 

and is as of December 31, 2021. 

Page 14 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Budget Surplus / Deficit as a Percentage of GDP1 

 

 Budget deficits as a percentage of GDP drastically increased for major world economies, particularly the US, 

due to massive fiscal support and the severe economic contraction’s effect on tax revenue in 2020 and 2021. 

 As fiscal stimulus programs end, and economic recoveries continue, deficits should improve in the coming 

years. 
  

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022. Projections via IMF Forecasts from October 2021 Report. Dotted lines represent 2022 and 2023 forecasts. 

Page 15 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Inflation (CPI Trailing Twelve Months)1 

 

 Inflation increased dramatically from the lows of the pandemic, particularly in the US and Eurozone. 

 Supply concerns related to the conflict between Russia and Ukraine have driven up the prices of key 

commodities like oil, wheat, and nickel, increasing inflationary concerns. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February. 2022, except for Japan, where the most recent data available is as of January 31, 2022. 

Page 16 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Unemployment1  

 

 As economies have largely reopened due to vaccines for the virus, improvements have been seen in the 

labor market. 

 US unemployment, which experienced the steepest rise from the pandemic, declined to under 4% as the 

economy reopens. The broader measure (U-6) that includes discouraged and underemployed workers has 

declined but is much higher at 7.2%. 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg. Data is as of February 28, 2022, for the US. The most recent data for Eurozone and Japanese unemployment is as of January 31, 2022. 

Page 17 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Global PMIs 

US PMI1 Eurozone PMI 

 
 

Japan PMI China PMI 

  

 After improvements from the lows of the pandemic, Purchasing Managers Indices (PMI), based on surveys of 

private sector companies, have largely experienced pressures recently. 

 PMIs in the services sector have seen some improvements in the US and Europe lately as the effects of the 
omicron variant wane, while Japan remains in contraction due to a rise in COVID-19 cases.  

 Manufacturing PMIs all are in expansion territory across countries as pandemic-related production issues ease. 
 

1 Source: Bloomberg. US Markit Services and Manufacturing PMI, Caixin Services and Manufacturing PMI, Eurozone Markit Services and Manufacturing PMI, Jibun Bank Services and Manufacturing PMI. 

Data is as of February 2022. Readings below 50 represent economic contractions.  

Page 18 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

US Dollar versus Broad Currencies1 

 

 In February, the US dollar continued its 2021 trend of strengthening against a broad basket of peers with 

further increases after month-end as investors looked for safe-haven assets. 

 A few commodity-sensitive currencies like the Brazilian real and South African rand have recently 

outpaced the dollar, given persistently high commodity prices. 

   

 
1 Source: Bloomberg Data as of February 28, 2022. 

Page 19 of 21 



 
Economic and Market Update 

 

 

 

 

Summary 

Key Trends in 2022:  

 The war in eastern Europe has created significant uncertainty going forward with a wide range of potential 

outcomes. Volatility will likely remain high. 

 Expect growth to slow globally in 2022 but remain above trend. The track of the pandemic and war will 

be key. 

 Inflationary pressures could linger, particularly if the Russian invasion of Ukraine intensifies or expands. 

 The end of many fiscal programs will put the burden of continued growth on consumers. Higher energy 

and food prices will depress their ability to spend in other areas. 

 Monetary policy will likely tighten globally but will remain relatively low. The risk of policy error remains. 

 Valuations remain high in the US, but low rates and strong margins should be supportive. 

 Outside the US, valuations remain lower in both emerging and developed markets, but risks remain. 

Page 20 of 21 



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

 

THIS MATERIAL IS PROVIDED BY MEKETA INVESTMENT GROUP, INC. (“MEKETA”) FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND MAY CONTAIN 

INFORMATION THAT IS NOT SUITABLE FOR ALL CLIENTS.  NO PORTION OF THIS COMMENTARY IS TO BE CONSTRUED AS A SOLICITATION OR 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO BUY OR SELL A SECURITY, OR THE PROVISION OF PERSONALIZED INVESTMENT ADVICE, TAX OR LEGAL ADVICE.  PAST 

PERFORMANCE MAY NOT BE INDICATIVE OF FUTURE RESULTS AND MAY HAVE BEEN IMPACTED BY MARKET EVENTS AND ECONOMIC 

CONDITIONS THAT WILL NOT PREVAIL IN THE FUTURE.  THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT ANY PARTICULAR INVESTMENT OR STRATEGY 

WILL PROVE PROFITABLE AND THE VIEWS, OPINIONS, AND PROJECTS EXPRESSED HEREIN MAY NOT COME TO PASS.  ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT 

REFERENCE TO A MARKET INDEX IS INCLUDED FOR ILLUSTRATIVE PURPOSES ONLY, AS AN INDEX IS NOT A SECURITY IN WHICH AN INVESTMENT 

CAN BE MADE.  INDICES ARE BENCHMARKS THAT SERVE AS MARKET OR SECTOR INDICATORS AND DO NOT ACCOUNT FOR THE DEDUCTION OF 

MANAGEMENT FEES, TRANSACTION COSTS AND OTHER EXPENSES ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTABLE PRODUCTS.  MEKETA DOES NOT MAKE ANY 

REPRESENTATION AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, SUITABILITY, COMPLETENESS OR RELEVANCE OF ANY INFORMATION PREPARED BY ANY 

UNAFFILIATED THIRD PARTY AND TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY, THEREFORE.  ANY DATA PROVIDED REGARDING THE LIKELIHOOD OF VARIOUS 

INVESTMENT OUTCOMES ARE HYPOTHETICAL IN NATURE, DO NOT REFLECT ACTUAL INVESTMENT RESULTS, AND ARE NOT GUARANTEES OF 

FUTURES RESULTS.  INVESTING INVOLVES RISK, INCLUDING THE POTENTIAL LOSS OF PRINCIPAL AND CLIENTS SHOULD BE GUIDED 

ACCORDINGLY.  

 

Page 21 of 21 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

TO:  Meketa Clients 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group 

DATE:  March 3, 2022 

RE:  Market Update: Russian Invasion of Ukraine 

 

Given the rapidly evolving situation between Russia and Ukraine and its impact on capital markets, we 

wanted to follow-up on our memo from last week with an update. In this piece we will discuss the 

increase in coordinated sanctions against Russia and their response, the current state of the capital 

markets within Russia and elsewhere, the call for divestment from Russian investments, and potential 

risks going forward. We recognize that this is a rapidly evolving situation with many potential outcomes, 

and we will continue to monitor the situation as it unfolds. 

Escalating sanctions 

In our memo from last week, we noted that the sanctions that had been enacted were similar to past 

sanctions: in this case, targeting key Russian officials and their families, companies, and banking 

transactions. Since then, the scope of sanctions and the countries participating has grown dramatically, 

and Russia has responded with its own set of sanctions and efforts to protect their economy. Given 

Russia’s apparent intent to continue its aggressive path, sanctions against the country will likely 

continue to evolve.  

Foreign exchange reserves locked down, and banks being excluded from SWIFT1 

Few anticipated the sweeping scope of the joint sanction announcement by the Council of Europe states, 

the United Kingdom, Canada, and the US at the end of February. And while a number of restrictions 

were announced, the two most likely to upset the functioning of Russian financial markets directly are 

the seizing of Russia’s foreign exchange reserves by several central banks and the exclusion of select 

Russian banks from the SWIFT network. However, at this time, major oil and energy banks are not under 

sanction, which allows EU countries to continue to trade respective energy commodities with Russia. 

 

First, with the restriction on Russia’s foreign reserves invoked, the Russian central bank has faced 

significant challenges supporting the currency as investors shed exposure and Russian citizens look to 

exchange rubles for more stable foreign currencies.   

 

 

 
1 The SWIFT messaging system is a global electronic platform that provides for safe and secure transmission of transactions for its members. Most notably, this includes 

payment messaging and instructions. 



 

March 3, 2022

 

 
 Page 2 of 5 

Based on recent estimates Russia’s foreign exchange reserves are meaningful at roughly $630 billion. 

The composition of those reserves is proving problematic as over half of the assets are dominated in 

major foreign currencies that have largely been seized through the sanction. Faced with this reality, 

the Russian central bank has been unable to support the currency over the last week as the ruble 

depreciated by over 25% against the dollar during that period to trade at an all-time low of roughly 

1 penny per dollar.  

 

The other major sanction, namely a handful of banks being excluded from SWIFT, is likely the most 

material sanction that will heavily impact Russia’s financial markets and the functioning of the Russian 

economy. For Russia, the exclusion of some of their largest domestic banks from the platform will 

greatly curtail the government’s ability to execute transactions such as trades related to energy and 

agricultural commerce. The repercussions of this could be notable spikes in related commodity prices 

as Russia is effectively removed from markets. Not waiting for the sanction to be finalized,2 anecdotal 

reports suggest some clearing houses and currency desks are actively stepping back from 

ruble-denominated transitions. Overall, as this continues to develop and potentially expands to include 

additional banking entities, volatility in assets with notable Russian exposure is likely to continue. 

Russia’s response 

Given the above sanctions, particularly the restricted access to central bank reserves, Russia has tried 

to support its financial markets and currency through other means.   

 

This includes the Central Bank of Russia (CBR) hiking policy rates from 9.5% to 20% in an effort to defend 

the value of the ruble. Restrictions were also placed on capital outflows from the country, the servicing 

of foreign loans, and the paying of corporate debt. Russian export companies have further been 

ordered to sell 80% of their foreign exchange reserves to repatriate capital to the banking system.  

 

The CBR has also taken the aggressive step of closing the Moscow stock exchange (MICEX) with no 

short-term prospect of reopening. That said, some equity-related assets are trading, including 

Russian-focused ETFs, which are largely composed of American Depository Receipts (ADRs) and Global 

Depository Receipts (GDRs). While ultimate values for underlying holdings may be limited, some of 

these vehicles are down well over 50% year-to-date.  

 

Russia’s Sovereign Wealth Fund has also been used to support domestic markets, including being 

ordered to purchase $8.9 billion of locally-listed shares.  

 

Further, to prevent an asset fire-sale, foreign investors have been forbidden from selling their Russian 

assets. As such, major energy companies like Shell, BP, and TotalEnergies, as well as financial 

institutions such as France’s Society General or manufacturers such as Germany’s BASF, could suffer 

from significant stranded assets and balance sheet write-downs.  

 
2  While the details of the SWIFT-related sanctions are yet to be disclosed, it is believed that energy and grain related transactions will be allowed. This would permit Russia to 

continue to provide the EU with approximately 30% to 40% of its natural gas requirements and may provide Russia with some cashflow through the sale of oil and gas.  



 

March 3, 2022

 

 
 Page 3 of 5 

Lastly, on March 1, the CBR also confirmed a ban on coupon payments, suggesting Russia may soon 

default on local currency debt. Hard currency debt is still lightly trading at this time, although with steep 

markdowns, with questions remaining about the future of coupon payments. 

Financial markets  

As the table below highlights, global financial markets have seen significant volatility and sharp 

repricing since the onset of Russian military actions on February 23.   

 

Broadly, risk assets have declined as market participants account for the evolving sanctions and the 

potential impact on specific sectors and industries as well as the potential impact to global economic 

fundamentals. Perceived safe-haven assets, however, have generally benefited from the 

flight-to-quality flows with global sovereign debt yields declining across most major economies.  

 

Market Returns 

Market 

Change from 2/23/22 – 3/2/22 

(%) 

S&P 500 3.8 

10-year US Treasury Yield 2.0 to 1.9 (yield change) 

VIX -0.9 (31.0 to 30.7) 

MSCI EAFE -3.3 

MSCI Emerging Markets -3.2 

iShares MSCI Russia ETF -63.5 

10-year Russian Bond Yield* 9.8 to 12.2 (yield change) 

USD/Ruble 27.6 

Russian CDS 944.4 

WTI Crude Oil 20.1 

Gold 0.7 

        *Trading for 10-year Russian Bonds has been suspended. Change in yield is from 2/18/22 – 2/28/22. 

 

However, as the table also details, Russian markets are feeling the impact most acutely at the moment. 

The Russian ruble (as previously highlighted) has weakened against the dollar to an all-time low, 

Russian bond yields spiked for some longer-dated maturities as S&P and Moody’s downgraded the 

country to below investment grade, and the Russian central bank has raised its key policy rate by over 

1,000 basis points to 20% in an effort to stem bank-run pressures. As we also noted previously, Russian 

equity markets remain closed. In fixed income and credit markets, volumes and liquidity are reportedly 

weak to non-existent, making price discovery exceedingly challenging, if not impossible.   



 

March 3, 2022

 

 
 Page 4 of 5 

Financial sanctions may become economic risks 

Market participants generally agree that the announced sanctions (thus far) are notably impacting the 

functioning of Russian financial markets and the broader Russian economy and will likely continue to 

do so for as long as they are in place.   

 

While the US and its allies are using these pressures to try to deter Russia from further aggressions, 

they could come at the cost of commodity prices potentially remaining elevated and/or spiking higher. 

This could drive global inflation pressures even further beyond the multi-decade highs currently being 

experienced.   

 

In response to the additional inflation pressures, global central banks could raise policy rates even more 

aggressively than anticipated, and potentially adversely impact global economic growth and thereby 

exacerbate stagflationary risks.   

 

In the US, recent commentary from Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) members (including 

Chair Powell himself) imply that the Committee’s strategy is to err on the side of potentially slowing the 

pace of reducing accommodation and hopefully support financial markets through this time of 

disruption.      

Increased discussions of divestment from Russian assets 

Given the recent events, many institutional investors are reviewing their direct and indirect exposures 

to Russian assets with some being directed to divest from these investments. Several prominent 

pension funds in the US and Europe have announced they will pursue this path of divestment. At the 

investment manager level, we are seeing that many are taking a wait and see approach given the 

market conditions and thin trading volumes. Given that Russian markets are not trading, many equity 

managers and fixed income managers with hard currency Russian bond exposure are resorting to 

estimating the value of their holdings with a range of write-downs from 40% to 75%. Further, major index 

providers are reviewing the inclusion of Russian securities in their indices, with MSCI and Russell 

recently deciding they will be removing locally-listed Russian equities from their respective index 

families in the near future.  

 

Logistically though, exiting these holdings in the current market environment is virtually impossible. 

The Russian stock exchange remains closed and selling other assets might require accepting a huge 

discount if buyers can even be located or their sale is allowed. Once equity markets reopen and reprice 

the recent events, losses could escalate.  

 

  



 

March 3, 2022

 

 
 Page 5 of 5 

Conclusion 

The current situation is rapidly developing. At least for now, US markets are largely functioning without 

support being needed from the Fed. Russian markets are a dramatically different story though with 

significant declines and some markets not even operating. Fortunately, many institutional investors 

have very small direct investments in these markets, but the second order effects are still evolving. Key 

risks include an escalation of the conflict as well as prolonged above-trend inflation due to sanctions 

with an increased risk for stagflation if growth slows. We recognize that this is a very rapidly changing 

situation and that the range of potential outcomes is broad. We will continue to diligently monitor it and 

provide updates as needed. Please do not hesitate to reach out to your client team with any questions 

you may have. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer 

The information contained herein is confidential.  All information is subject to market fluctuations and 

economic events, which will impact future recommendations and investment decisions. These contents 

are proprietary Information of Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) and may not be reproduced or 

disseminated in whole or part without prior written consent. All information and graphics referenced 

herein are derived from sources which we consider reliable; however, its delivery does not warrant that 

the information contained is correct.  This report has been prepared solely for informational purposes 

and no part is to be construed as a recommendation or an offer to buy or sell or a solicitation of an offer 

to buy or sell any security or to participate in any investment strategy. 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

 

February Flash Report 

 

 

  

 

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System



OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Allocation vs. Targets and Policy

Current
Balance

Current
Allocation

Policy Difference
Within IPS

Range?
_

Domestic Equity $196,982,474 44.4% 40.0% 4.4% Yes

International Equity $56,749,816 12.8% 12.0% 0.8% Yes

Fixed Income $113,102,570 25.5% 31.0% -5.5% Yes

Covered Calls $38,750,973 8.7% 5.0% 3.7% Yes

Credit $9,252,153 2.1% 2.0% 0.1% Yes

Crisis Risk Offset $18,804,824 4.2% 10.0% -5.8% No

Cash $9,877,718 2.2% 0.0% 2.2% Yes

Total $443,520,528 100.0% 100.0%
XXXXX

Page 2 of 9



OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Page 3 of 9



Asset Class Performance Summary

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

1 Mo
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

YTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 443,520,528 100.0 -1.8 -0.6 -5.8 6.4 9.8 9.0 8.3 7.0 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark   -1.8 -1.5 -5.5 5.2 9.8 8.5 7.9 8.2 Dec-88

Domestic Equity 196,982,474 44.4 -2.3 0.7 -7.9 11.6 16.2 14.0 13.8 9.4 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)   -2.5 0.2 -8.3 12.3 17.6 14.7 14.3 9.5 Jun-97

International Equity 56,749,816 12.8 -2.2 -3.8 -5.6 3.2 9.3 8.8 6.7 5.6 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)   -2.0 -6.6 -5.6 0.0 8.2 7.8 5.9 5.7 Jan-98

Fixed Income 113,102,570 25.5 -1.0 -2.8 -3.0 -1.5 3.9 3.5 3.2 5.2 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)   -1.4 -3.5 -3.5 -2.7 3.4 2.9 2.8 5.0 Dec-93

Credit 9,252,153 2.1 -0.7 1.3 -1.2 5.6 6.0 5.9 -- 6.2 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR   -1.0 -2.2 -3.7 0.6 5.3 4.9 5.9 5.4 Feb-15

Covered Calls 38,750,973 8.7 -1.8 3.8 -5.7 15.1 14.2 11.2 -- 10.1 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD   -0.7 4.9 -3.2 15.2 8.0 6.5 6.9 6.5 Apr-14

Crisis Risk Offset 18,804,824 4.2 -1.8 -3.6 -5.4 -3.0 -9.4 -- -- -9.1 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index   -0.7 2.1 0.5 8.0 -2.2 -- -- -1.8 Aug-18

OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Cash balances held in ETF accounts at the Custodian are reflected in the Cash account market value.

Fiscal year begins on July 1.

Page 4 of 9



OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Trailing Net Performance

Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

YTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

OPFRS Total Plan 443,520,528 100.0 -- -1.8 -0.6 -5.8 6.4 9.8 9.0 8.3 7.0 Dec-88

OPFRS Policy Benchmark    -1.8 -1.5 -5.5 5.2 9.8 8.5 7.9 8.2 Dec-88

Domestic Equity 196,982,474 44.4 44.4 -2.3 0.7 -7.9 11.6 16.2 14.0 13.8 9.4 Jun-97

Russell 3000 (Blend)    -2.5 0.2 -8.3 12.3 17.6 14.7 14.3 9.5 Jun-97

Northern Trust Russell 1000 100,789,424 22.7 51.2 -2.7 0.8 -8.4 13.5 18.0 15.0 14.5 14.7 Jun-10

Russell 1000    -2.7 1.0 -8.2 13.7 18.1 15.1 14.5 14.8 Jun-10

EARNEST Partners 48,278,801 10.9 24.5 -1.6 3.3 -6.3 12.8 18.7 16.0 14.8 11.2 Apr-06

Russell MidCap    -0.7 -3.0 -8.0 7.1 14.3 12.0 12.8 9.5 Apr-06

iShares Edge MSCI Min Vol ETF 20,983,484 4.7 10.7 -3.1 0.9 -8.9 13.6 -- -- -- 19.4 Apr-20

MSCI USA Minimum Volatility GR USD    -3.1 1.0 -8.8 13.9 10.8 11.3 12.7 19.6 Apr-20

Rice Hall James 15,714,644 3.5 8.0 -2.0 -8.0 -9.9 -4.2 11.2 -- -- 11.1 Jul-17

Russell 2000 Growth    0.4 -17.9 -13.0 -17.4 9.2 10.5 11.4 10.0 Jul-17

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value 11,216,121 2.5 5.7 -0.8 1.8 -5.1 -- -- -- -- 5.2 Apr-21

Russell 2000 Value    1.7 -3.1 -4.3 6.6 10.9 8.0 10.7 1.3 Apr-21

International Equity 56,749,816 12.8 12.8 -2.2 -3.8 -5.6 3.2 9.3 8.8 6.7 5.6 Jan-98

MSCI ACWI ex US (Blend)    -2.0 -6.6 -5.6 0.0 8.2 7.8 5.9 5.7 Jan-98

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity 40,471,372 9.1 71.3 -1.7 -2.4 -4.6 3.4 -- -- -- 6.2 Dec-19

MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross    -2.0 -6.6 -5.6 0.0 8.2 7.8 5.9 7.9 Dec-19

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF 16,003,198 3.6 28.2 -2.6 -5.4 -6.4 2.8 -- -- -- 10.5 Sep-19

FTSE Developed All Cap Ex US TR USD    -1.4 -4.8 -6.3 3.3 8.8 7.8 5.0 10.9 Sep-19

International equity performance inclusive of residual cash in Hansberger transition.

Throughout the report performance for new funds will be shown after one full month of investment.

Fiscal year begins July 1.

Page 5 of 9



Market Value
($)

% of
Portfolio

% of
Sector

1 Mo
(%)

Fiscal
YTD

(%)

YTD
(%)

1 Yr
(%)

3 Yrs
(%)

5 Yrs
(%)

10 Yrs
(%)

S.I.
(%)

S.I. Date

_

Fixed Income 113,102,570 25.5 25.5 -1.0 -2.8 -3.0 -1.5 3.9 3.5 3.2 5.2 Dec-93

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    -1.4 -3.5 -3.5 -2.7 3.4 2.9 2.8 5.0 Dec-93

Ramirez 76,989,359 17.4 68.1 -1.0 -2.8 -3.0 -1.4 3.9 3.4 -- 3.5 Jan-17

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    -1.1 -3.2 -3.2 -2.6 3.3 2.7 2.5 2.8 Jan-17

Reams 28,744,718 6.5 25.4 -0.9 -2.4 -2.8 -1.5 7.4 5.4 4.2 5.7 Feb-98

Bloomberg Universal (Blend)    -1.4 -3.5 -3.5 -2.7 3.4 2.9 2.8 4.7 Feb-98

Wellington Core Bond 7,368,449 1.7 6.5 -1.3 -3.5 -3.5 -- -- -- -- -1.6 Apr-21

Bloomberg US Aggregate TR    -1.1 -3.2 -3.2 -2.6 3.3 2.7 2.5 -1.4 Apr-21

Credit 9,252,153 2.1 2.1 -0.7 1.3 -1.2 5.6 6.0 5.9 -- 6.2 Feb-15

Bloomberg US High Yield TR    -1.0 -2.2 -3.7 0.6 5.3 4.9 5.9 5.4 Feb-15

DDJ Capital 9,252,153 2.1 100.0 -0.7 1.3 -1.2 5.6 6.0 5.9 -- 6.2 Feb-15

ICE BofA High Yield Master TR    -0.9 -2.1 -3.6 0.9 5.1 4.7 5.8 5.3 Feb-15

Covered Calls 38,750,973 8.7 8.7 -1.8 3.8 -5.7 15.1 14.2 11.2 -- 10.1 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    -0.7 4.9 -3.2 15.2 8.0 6.5 6.9 6.5 Apr-14

Parametric DeltaShift 21,764,108 4.9 56.2 -2.7 4.0 -7.2 17.1 17.6 13.7 -- 12.4 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    -0.7 4.9 -3.2 15.2 8.0 6.5 6.9 6.5 Apr-14

Parametric BXM 16,986,866 3.8 43.8 -0.8 3.6 -3.7 12.7 10.4 8.5 -- 8.0 Apr-14

CBOE S&P 500 BuyWrite USD    -0.7 4.9 -3.2 15.2 8.0 6.5 6.9 6.5 Apr-14

Crisis Risk Offset 18,804,824 4.2 4.2 -1.8 -3.6 -5.4 -3.0 -9.4 -- -- -9.1 Aug-18

SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia Index    -0.7 2.1 0.5 8.0 -2.2 -- -- -1.8 Aug-18

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF 18,804,824 4.2 100.0 -1.8 -3.6 -5.4 -3.0 -- -- -- 2.7 Jul-19

Bloomberg US Govt Long TR    -1.5 -2.2 -5.5 -1.1 6.9 4.9 4.1 3.5 Jul-19

OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Cash balances held in ETF accounts at the Custodian are reflected in the Cash account market value.

Page 6 of 9



Cash Flow Summary

Month to Date

Beginning
Market Value

Net Cash Flow
Net Investment

Change
Ending

Market Value
_

Brown Fundamental Small Cap Value $11,316,255 $0 -$100,134 $11,216,121

Cash $3,043,682 $40,036 $0 $3,083,718

Cash - Treasury $6,788,100 $5,900 $0 $6,794,000

DDJ Capital $9,317,744 $0 -$65,592 $9,252,153

EARNEST Partners $49,054,976 $0 -$776,175 $48,278,801

Hansberger Transition $416,185 $0 -$140,940 $275,245

iShares Edge MSCI Min Vol ETF $21,646,600 $0 -$663,116 $20,983,484

Northern Trust Russell 1000 $104,626,124 -$1,000,000 -$2,836,700 $100,789,424

Parametric BXM $17,115,536 $0 -$128,670 $16,986,866

Parametric DeltaShift $22,358,240 $0 -$594,132 $21,764,108

Ramirez $77,805,831 $0 -$816,472 $76,989,359

Reams $29,004,549 $0 -$259,831 $28,744,718

Reams Low Duration $44 $0 $0 $44

Rice Hall James $16,028,150 $0 -$313,506 $15,714,644

Securities Lending Northern Trust $0 -$11,366 $11,366 $0

SGA ACWI ex-U.S. Equity $41,171,910 $0 -$700,538 $40,471,372

Vanguard Developed Markets ETF $16,438,523 $0 -$435,325 $16,003,198

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury ETF $19,154,050 $0 -$349,226 $18,804,824

Wellington Core Bond $7,464,835 $0 -$96,386 $7,368,449

Total $452,751,334 -$965,430 -$8,265,376 $443,520,528
XXXXX

OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Page 7 of 9



Benchmark History

As of February 28, 2022
_

Total Plan x Securities Lending x Reams LD Exception Comp

1/1/2019 Present
40% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 33% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 5% CBOE BXM / 6.7% SG Multi Alternative Risk Premia
Index / 3.3% Bloomberg US Treasury Long TR

5/1/2016 12/31/2018 48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 20% CBOE BXM

10/1/2015 4/30/2016
43% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 15% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

1/1/2014 9/30/2015
48% Russell 3000 / 12% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 20% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 10% CBOE BXM / 10% CPI - All Urban Consumers
(unadjusted) +3%

3/1/2013 12/31/2013 40% Russell 3000 / 10% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 17% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 33% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

8/1/2012 2/28/2013 20% Russell 3000 / 7% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 18% Bloomberg US Universal TR / 55% ICE BofA 3M US Treasury TR USD

10/1/2007 7/31/2012 53% Russell 3000 / 17% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 30% Bloomberg US Universal TR

4/1/2006 9/30/2007 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Universal TR

1/1/2005 3/31/2006 35% Russell 3000 / 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Gross / 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR

4/1/1998 12/31/2004 50% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 10% Russell 1000 / 20% Russell 1000 Value / 5% Russell MidCap / 15% MSCI EAFE

9/1/1988 3/31/1998 40% S&P 500 / 55% Bloomberg US Aggregate TR / 5% FTSE T-Bill 3 Months TR

OPFRS Total Plan

OPFRS Total Plan As of February 28, 2022

Page 8 of 9



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 9 of 9



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
BOSTON  CHICAGO  LONDON  MIAMI  NEW YORK  PORTLAND  SAN DIEGO 

2175 NW Raleigh Street 

Suite 300A 

Portland, OR 97210 

503.226.1050 

Meketa.com 

TO:  Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) 

FROM:  Meketa Investment Group (“Meketa”) 

CC:  David Sancewich; Paola Nealon - Meketa 

 Teir Jenkins – PFRS   

DATE:  March 30, 2022 

RE:  2022 Expected Return Memo 

 

The general theme of the 2022 Meketa Capital Market Assumptions are slightly higher future expected 

returns. This is a theme which is consistent across the board in the industry and largely driven by the 

near zero interest rates in 2021. Higher expected interest rates result in higher expected returns for 

most yield oriented asset classes as starting yield is often a fairly reasonable predictor of future returns 

for many fixed income related classes.  

Expected returns are flat or slightly higher for anyone relying solely on a valuation approach.  It’s 

important to remember that our capital market assumptions and those of other practitioners and peers 

have a significant range of error in terms of potential future outcomes. For example, the higher the 

expected standard deviation, the higher the range of possible outcomes is expected to be for any asset 

class or portfolio. It is also important to note that the long-term expected portfolio compound return 

assumes net-of-fee returns, with no attempt to seek added value via active management.  

It is important to note that our capital market assumptions are over a 20-year time horizon which is 

different from the time horizon used by PFRS’s actuary, Chieron which projects out over 30-years.  

Further summary comments of our 2022 capital market assumptions and the detailed projections by 

asset class  are shown on the following page. 

  



 

March 30, 2022 

 

 
 Page 2 of 2 

• In 2022 our cash return expectations increased from 2021 from 1.1% to 1.7%.  

• Fixed income yields across the maturity and quality spectrum increased during 2021 

increasing return expectations for Fixed Income, High Yield, and Long Duration  

(a part of Crisis Risk Offset).  

• With the exception of Public Equities, no class in the PFRS portfolio is forecasted to achieve 

a compound return above 6.50% over the next 20 years.   

− Public Equity contains U.S. Equity and International Equity. The next highest returning 

sub-asset class is Covered Calls at ~5.8%.  

• Over the next 20-years the PFRS Long-term policy portfolio is projected to produce  

a return of 5.79% 

Long-Term Policy  

  2022 20-Year Assumptions 

Investment Class 

Target * 

(%)  

Exp. Comp. 

Return** 

Expected Std. 

Dev. 

US Equity 40 6.80 18.00 

International Equity 12 7.50 19.00 

Covered Calls 5 5.78 12.00 

Fixed Income 21 2.40 4.00 

Credit 2 4.40 11.00 

Crisis Risk Offset 20 4.03 12.2 

Cash --- 1.70 1.00 

Total 100 5.79 10.23 

DS/PS/ep 



 

 

BOSTON     CHICAGO     LONDON     MIAMI     NEW YORK     PORTLAND     SAN DIEGO MEKETA.COM 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System

2Q 2022 Cash Flow Report



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Cash Flow Recommendation Summary 
 

 

Asset Class / Manager Liquidity 

April – June 2022 Report 

Domestic Equity Northern Trust Russell 1000 

 

1 

Domestic Equity EARNEST Partners 

 

3 

Domestic Equity iShares MSCI Min Vol ETF 

 

3 

Domestic Equity Rice Hall James 

 

3 

Domestic Equity Brown Small Cap Value 

 

3 

International Equity SGA MSCI ACWI ex-US 

 

3 

International Equity Vanguard Developed ETF 

 

3 

Domestic Fixed Income Ramirez 

 

2 

Domestic Fixed Income Reams 

 

2 

Domestic Fixed Income Wellington Core Bond 

 

3 

Credit DDJ 

 

2 

Covered Calls Parametric 

 

2 

Crisis Risk Offset Vanguard Long Duration ETF 

 

3 

Crisis Risk Offset Versor 

 

3 

Cash Cash  1 

  

Page 2 of 6



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Cash Flow Recommendation Summary 
 

 

Description of Liquidity Tiers 

Tier Description Amount ($) in Months 

1 Public, Scheduled Withdrawal Allowances 100.7 16.8 

2 Public, Accommodating of Withdrawals 148.7 24.8 

3 Public, Must Plan Withdrawals 194.1 32.4 

4 Closely Held 0.0 - 

Total   443.5 
 

  

Page 3 of 6



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Cash Flow Recommendation Summary 
 

 

Projected OPFRS Asset Allocation1 

  

 
1 Report reflects change in asset allocation from February 28, 2022 values listed by Northern Trust, with adjustments made to reflect the pending transactions in March 2022 to fund Versor. Beneficiary payments estimated at $13.9 million on a quarterly 

basis per OPFRS. Report reflects quarterly City contributions of $10.9 million. Current City of Oakland quarterly contribution amount is based on FY 2021/2022 actuarial annual required contribution of $43.65 million. 

Page 4 of 6



 
Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System 

Cash Flow Recommendation Summary 
 

 

 

Est Mkt  

Value ($M) 

Est Mkt 

Value (%) 

Target 

(%) 

Projected % Variance 

(from target) 

Projected $ Variance 

 (from target) 

Northern Trust Russell 1000 84.8 19.4% 20.0% -0.6% (2,714,673) 

EARNEST Partners 48.3 11.0% 6.0% 5.0% 22,027,572 

iShares MSCI Min Vol ETF 21.0 4.8% 8.0% -3.2% (14,018,155) 

Rice Hall James 15.7 3.6% 3.0% 0.6% 2,589,029 

Brown Small Cap Value 11.2 2.6% 3.0% -0.4% (1,909,494) 

Total Domestic Equity 181.0 41.4% 40.0% 1.4% 5,974,280 

SGA MSCI ACWI ex-US 40.5 9.3% 3.6% 5.7% 24,720,635 

Vanguard Developed ETF 16.0 3.7% 8.4% -4.7% (20,748,523) 

Total International Equity 56.7 13.0% 12.0% 1.0% 4,247,358 

Total Public Equity 237.7 54.3% 52.0% 2.3% 10,221,638 

Parametric 33.8 7.7% 5.0% 2.7% 11,874,949 

Total Covered Calls 33.8 7.7% 5.0% 2.7% 11,874,949 

Long Duration ETF 18.8 4.3% 3.3% 1.0% 4,220,822 

Versor 15.0 3.4% 3.3% 0.1% 430,568 

Alternative Risk Premia Manager 0.0 0.0% 3.3% -3.3% (14,569,432) 

Total Crisis Risk Offset 33.8 7.7% 10.0% -2.3% (9,946,918) 

Ramirez 77.0 17.6% 12.0% 5.6% 24,486,901 

Reams 28.7 6.6% 2.0% 4.6% 19,994,308 

Wellington Core Bond 7.4 1.7% 19.0% -17.3% (75,760,443) 

DDJ 9.3 2.1% 2.0% 0.1% 501,743 

Total Public Fixed 122.4 28.0% 33.0% -5.0% (22,027,081) 

Cash 9.9 2.3% 0.0% 2.3% 9,877,718 

Total Stable 132.2 30.2% 33.0% -2.8% (12,149,363)       
Total Portfolio 437.5 100.0% 100.0% 

  

 

Page 5 of 6



 
Disclaimer 

 

 

 

WE HAVE PREPARED THIS REPORT (THIS “REPORT”) FOR THE SOLE BENEFIT OF THE INTENDED RECIPIENT (THE “RECIPIENT”). 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS MAY OCCUR (OR HAVE OCCURRED) AFTER THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THAT IT IS NOT OUR FUNCTION OR 

RESPONSIBILITY TO UPDATE THIS REPORT.  ANY OPINIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENTED HEREIN REPRESENT OUR GOOD FAITH VIEWS 

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT ANY TIME.  ALL INVESTMENTS INVOLVE RISK.  THERE CAN BE NO 

GUARANTEE THAT THE STRATEGIES, TACTICS, AND METHODS DISCUSSED HERE WILL BE SUCCESSFUL. 

INFORMATION USED TO PREPARE THIS REPORT WAS OBTAINED FROM INVESTMENT MANAGERS, CUSTODIANS, AND OTHER EXTERNAL 

SOURCES.  WHILE WE HAVE EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN PREPARING THIS REPORT, WE CANNOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OF ALL 

SOURCE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.    

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT MAY CONSTITUTE “FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS,” WHICH CAN BE IDENTIFIED BY THE 

USE OF TERMINOLOGY SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL,” “SHOULD,” “EXPECT,” “AIM”, “ANTICIPATE,” “TARGET,” “PROJECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “INTEND,” 

“CONTINUE” OR “BELIEVE,” OR THE NEGATIVES THEREOF OR OTHER VARIATIONS THEREON OR COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY.  ANY 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION ARE BASED UPON CURRENT 

ASSUMPTIONS.  CHANGES TO ANY ASSUMPTIONS MAY HAVE A MATERIAL IMPACT ON FORWARD - LOOKING STATEMENTS, FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS.  ACTUAL RESULTS MAY THEREFORE BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS, VALUATIONS, OR RESULTS IN THIS PRESENTATION.   

PERFORMANCE DATA CONTAINED HEREIN REPRESENT PAST PERFORMANCE.  PAST PERFORMANCE IS NO GUARANTEE OF FUTURE RESULTS.  
 

Page 6 of 6



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

  RESOLUTION NO. 8045 
 

Approved to Form 
and Legality 

 
  

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

RESOLUTION APPROVING DEATH BENEFIT PAYMENT 
AND DIRECTING A WARRANT THEREUNDER IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $1,000.00 PAYABLE TO THE BENEFICIARY 
OF DECEASED OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM MEMBER RICHARD A. SCHULLER. 

WHEREAS, due proof having been received in accordance with Article XXVI of the 
Charter of the City of Oakland of the death of the retired member of the Oakland Police 
or Fire Department identified in Column (1) below; and  

WHEREAS, the beneficiary to whom the death benefit provided in Charter Section 
2612 is payable, is the person whose name is stated in Column (2) opposite the name of 
the deceased retired member; and  

WHEREAS, the amount of said death benefit is stated in Column (3) opposite the 
name of the beneficiary; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED:  That the Police and Fire Retirement System Board does hereby 
approve the Death Benefit payment to the person named in Column (2); and be it  

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Director of Finance, be and is hereby directed to 
draw and sign a warrant for the amount in Column (3) payable to the person whose name 
appears in Column (2): 

 
 

(1) (2) (3) 

Name of 
Deceased Member 

Name of Beneficiary 
Death Benefit 

Amount 

Richard A. Schuller Eric Schuller $1,000.00 

 

IN BOARD MEETING, VIA ZOOM CONFERENCE  MARCH 30, 2022  

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:    

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY

 

bhakt9m
Mitesh Stamp



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8046 
 
 

1 

 

ON MOTION OF MEMBER    SECONDED BY MEMBER    

 
RESOLUTION ELECTING TO CONTINUE TO CONDUCT 
POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD AND 
COMMITTEE MEETINGS USING TELECONFERENCING 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT 
CODE SECTION 54953(E). 

 
 

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom declared a state of 

emergency related to COVID-19, pursuant to California Government Code Section 

8625, and said declaration has not been lifted or rescinded, see 

https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-

SOE-Proclamation.pdf; and 

 

WHEREAS, on March 9, 2020, the City Administrator, as the Director of the 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC), issued a proclamation of local emergency 

due to the spread of COVID-19 in Oakland, and on March 12, 2020, the City 

Council passed Resolution No. 88075 C.M.S. ratifying the proclamation of local 

emergency pursuant to Oakland Municipal Code (O.M.C.) section 8.50.050(C); and 

 

WHEREAS, City Council Resolution No. 88075 remains in full force and 

effect to date; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) recommends physical 

distancing of at least six (6) feet whenever possible, avoiding crowds, and 

avoiding spaces that do not offer fresh air from the outdoors, particularly for 

people who are not fully vaccinated or who are at high risk of getting very sick 

from COVID-19, see https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-

ncov/preventgetting-sick/prevention.html ; and 

 

WHEREAS, the CDC recommends that people who live with unvaccinated 

people avoid activities that make physical distancing difficult, see 

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/about-covid-

19/caring-for-children/families.html ; and 

 

WHEREAS, the CDC recommends that older adults limit in-person 

interactions as much as possible, particularly when indoors, see 

https://www.cdc.gov/aging/covid19/covid19-older-adults.html ; and 

WHEREAS, the CDC, the California Department of Public Health, and the 

Alameda County Public Health Department all recommend                                        

Approved to 
Form 

and Legality 
 

   

https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-SOE-Proclamation.pdf
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/3.4.20-Coronavirus-SOE-Proclamation.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/preventgetting-sick/prevention.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/preventgetting-sick/prevention.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/about-covid-19/caring-for-children/families.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/about-covid-19/caring-for-children/families.html
https://www.cdc.gov/aging/covid19/covid19-older-adults.html
bhakt9m
Mitesh Stamp



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8046 
 
 

2 

 

that people experiencing COVID-19 symptoms stay home, see 

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/if-you-are-sick/steps-when-

sick.html ; and 

 

WHEREAS, people without symptoms may be able to spread the         

COVID-19 virus, see https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-

gettingsick/prevention.html ; and 

 

WHEREAS, fully vaccinated people who become infected with the                    

COVID-19 Delta variant can spread the virus to others, see 

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated.html ; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, as of December 20, 2021, the Omicron variant has been 

detected in most states and territories and is rapidly increasing the proportion 

of COVID-19 cases it is causing, see https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-

ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CDC does not yet know how easily the Omicron variant 

spreads, the severity of illness it causes, or how well available vaccines and 

medications work against it, see https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-

ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s public-meeting facilities are indoor facilities that are 

not designed to provide circulation of fresh/outdoor air, particularly during 

periods of cold or rainy weather; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s public-meeting facilities are not designed to ensure 

that attendees can remain six (6) feet apart; and 

 

WHEREAS, most of the members of the Police and Fire Retirement System 

are at higher risk of becoming very sick from COVID-19 due to their age; and 

 

WHEREAS, holding in-person meetings will bring people from different 

households together in an indoor facility against CDC guidance; and 

 

WHEREAS, some attendees may use public transportation to travel to an 

in-person meeting, which will expose them to additional people outside of their 

household and put them at further risk of contracting COVID-19; and 

 

 

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/if-you-are-sick/steps-when-sick.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/if-you-are-sick/steps-when-sick.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-gettingsick/prevention.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-gettingsick/prevention.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/variants/omicron-variant.html


OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8046 
 
 

3 

 

WHEREAS, in light of the above, on January 26, 2022, the Police and Fire 

Retirement System Board (“PFRS Board”) determined that conducting in-person 

meetings of the PFRS Board and its committees would present imminent risk to 

health or safety of attendees and elected to continue to conduct PFRS Board and 

committee meetings using teleconferencing in accordance with California 

Government Code section 54953(e) (Resolution No. 8037); and 

 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to California Government Code section 54953(e)(3), 

the PFRS Board has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of emergency 

and determines that the state of emergency continues to directly impact the 

ability of the members of the PFRS Board to meet safely in person and that state 

and local officials continue to recommend measures to promote social 

distancing; now, therefore, be it: 

 

 

RESOLVED: that the Police and Fire Retirement System Board (“PFRS  

Board”) finds and determines that the foregoing recitals are true and correct and 

hereby adopts and incorporates them into this Resolution; and be it 

 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: that, based on these findings, the PFRS Board 

determines that conducting in-person board and committee meetings continues 

to pose imminent risks to the health of attendees; and be it 

 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: that the PFRS Board firmly believes that the 

community’s health and safety and the community’s right to participate in local 

government are critically and equally important, and is committed to balancing 

the two by continuing to use teleconferencing to conduct public meetings, in 

accordance with California Government Code Section 54953(e); and be it 

 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the PFRS Board will reconsider the state of 

emergency and determine whether the state of emergency continues to directly 

impact the ability of members to meet safely in person at least every thirty (30) 

days in accordance with California Government Code section 54953(e) until the 

state of emergency related to COVID-19 has been lifted, or the PFRS Board finds 

that in-person meetings no longer pose imminent risks to the health of attendees, 

whichever occurs first. 

 



OAKLAND POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT BOARD 
CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 8046 
 
 

4 

 

IN BOARD MEETING, VIA ZOOM CONFERENCE    MARCH 30, 2022   

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:   
ATTEST:    
 PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:    
 SECRETARY

 


	(00) PFRS_AGENDA_2022.03.30_REGULAR_v1.0_FINAL.pdf
	(A) PFRS 2022.02.23_Draft Minutes_REGULAR_v1.1.pdf
	(B1) PFRS_Admin Rpt_2022.01.31.pdf
	(B2) PFRS_Agenda Report_Jones Travel_CALAPRS GA 2022.pdf
	(C1) RHJ_Oakland PFRS_RHJ Small Cap Opportunities_3-30-22.pdf
	(C2) MEKETA_2022-03 RHJ Manager Update.pdf
	(C3) PFRS_RESO 8044_Rice Hall James_Contract Extension.PDF
	(C4) MEKETA_2022Q1 - Economic and Market Update-Data as of February 28 2022 (Presentation).pdf
	(C5) MEKETA_033022_Russian Invasion of Ukraine_m220303.pdf
	(C6) MEKETA_033022_February Flash Report_OPFRS.pdf
	(C7) MEKETA_PFRS Expected Return Memo - 2022.pdf
	(C8) MEKETA_033022_Cash Flow Summary _June 2022_OPFRS.pdf
	(D) PFRS_RESO 8045_Death Benefit.PDF
	(E) PFRS_RESO 8046_Continued Virtual Meeting.PDF

